UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION, WINNEBA

TEACHERS' ASSESSMENT PRACTICES FOR CHILDREN WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES IN INCLUSIVE CLASSROOMS IN THE KUMASI METROPOLIS, GHANA



MASTER OF PHILOSOPHY

UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION WINNEBA

TEACHERS' ASSESSMENT PRACTICES FOR CHILDREN WITH INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES IN INCLUSIVE CLASSROOMS IN THE KUMASI METROPOLIS, GHANA



A thesis in the Department of of Early Childhood, Faculty of Educational Studies,, submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the award of the degree of Master of Philosophy (Early Childhood Education) in the University of Education, Winneba

DECEMBER, 2019

DECLARATION

Student's Declaration

I, **Nurudeen Iddriss Muhammed** declare that this dissertation is my original work and has not been presented for another degree in any other university.

SIGNATURE:.....

DATE:.....

Supervisor's Declaration

I hereby declare that the preparation and presentation of this work was supervised by me in accordance with the guidelines for supervision of dissertation laid down by the University of Education, Winneba.

NAME OF SUPERVISOR: DR. Michael Subbey



DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to all special needs children in inclusive classrooms.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My foremost gratitude goes to my mentor, guide and a supervisor, Dr. Michael Subbey and my internal supervisor, professor Kweku Hayford. I am grateful to you, for your corrections and guidance. Your prompt and timely interventions cannot be overlooked. I say ``shukran'.

To all those works without which this work would not have seen its completion, I am grateful.

I am indebted to the "workaholic" staff in our department, headed by our able Head of Department, I am not an ingrate to overlook your assistance and timely help. A great deal of thanks to the teachers at these schools who volunteered to participate in my research.

My deepest appreciation goes to my family for all their love and support. I would like to thank my dad, Mr. Hakeem (Maltima) for his continuous encouragement, support and unwavering belief in me. To my brother Ali, you did a splendid work on the reference. Yussif Atim, a friend and a brother you have been.

Alhamdu lillaah.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONTENT	PAGE
DECLARATION	iii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	Х
ABSTRACT	xii

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUICTION	1
1.0 Background to the Study	1
1.1 Statement of the Problem	9
1.2 Purpose of the Study	11
1.3 Objectives of the Study	11
1.4 Research Questions	11
1.5 Significance of the Study	12
1.6 Delimitations of the Study	13
1.7 Operational Definition of Terms	14
1.8 Organization of the Study	15
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	17
2.0 Introduction	17
2.1 Examples of constructivist activities	19

2.2 Constructivists'	Assessment	20

2.3 The Concept of Early Childhood Education	21
2.4 The Importance of Early Childhood Education	21
2.5 Concept of Assessment Practice	24
2.6 The Concept of Inclusive Education in Ghana	30
2.7 Inclusion of children with intellectual disabilities in the Classroom	32
2.8 Early Childhood Teachers View about Assessment Practices	34
2.9 Challenges of Early Childhood Teachers about Assessment Practices	42
2.10 Assessments Tools	45
2.11 Formative Assessment	45
2.12 Summative Assessment	52
2.13 Performance-Based Assessment in School	57
2.14 Qualitative Assessment	58
2.15 Aptitude Assessment	60
2.16 Paper and Pencil Test	60
2.17 Projects	61
2.18 Graphic Organizers and Concept Mapping	62
CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY	64
3.0 Introduction	64
3.1 Research Design	64
3.2 Population	66
3.3 Sample and Sampling Procedure	66
3.4 The Research Instrument	68
3.5 Validity and Reliability of the Instrument	70
3.6 Pilot-Testing	71

3.7 Data Collection Procedure	72
3.8 Data Analysis	73
3.9 Ethical Considerations	73
CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	75
4.0 Introduction	75
4.1 Description of Respondents	75
How the Descriptive Results Were Analyzed and Interpreted For the Research	
Questions (RQ1-RQ4)	76

CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND

RECOMMENDATIONS	97
5.0 Introduction	97
5.1 Summary of the Study	97
5.2 Key Findings	98
5.3 Conclusions	99
5.4 Recommendations	99
5.5 Suggestions for Future Research	100
REFERENCES	101
APPENDIX A	121
APPENDIX B	126
APPENDIX C	127
APPENDIX D	128

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1: Demographic Characteristics of the Respondents	76
2: Descriptive Results on Inclusive Public Kindergartens Teachers' views on	
assessment practices for children with intellectual disabilities in the Kumasi	
Metropolis View Assessment Practices	78
3: Descriptive Results on Level of Teacher Knowledge about Assessment	
Practices in Inclusive Education	83
4: Descriptive Results on Problems Faced by Kindergarten Teachers in	
Administering Assessment Tools on Children with Intellectual Disabilities	89
5: Descriptive Results on Assessment Tools Teachers Employ in Supporting	
the Learning Need of Children with Intellectual Disabilities in	
Inclusive Schools	94

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

The American Federation of Teachers
Assessment Literacy Inventory
Assessment Practices Inventory
Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities
Curriculum Research and Development Division
Ghana Education Service
Ghana Statistical Service
Early Childhood Care and Development Division
Early Childhood Education
Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education
Inclusive early childhood education
The Institute of Education
Intelligent Quotient
Kindergarten
Ministry of Education Youth and Sports
National Association of Education for the Youth
The National Council on Measurement in Education
North Central Regional Educational Laboratory
The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics
National Education Association
Northwest Evaluation Association
Special Education Division
Special Educational Needs

TALQ	Teacher Assessment Literacy Questionnaire
TED	Teacher Education Division
UCC	University of Cape Coast
UEW	University of Education
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural
	Organization
UNICEF	United Nation's Children Fund
UN	United Nations
WHO	World Health Organization



ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to investigate the various assessment practices teachers employ in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms in the Kumasi metropolis. A descriptive survey design was adopted using a sample of 120 early childhood teachers from 22 public inclusive schools in the Kumasi Metro. The purposive sampling technique was used to select all 22 public inclusive schools, while convenience sampling technique was employed to select the actual respondents for the study. Questionnaire was used to gather the research data. Means and Standard deviations were used as statistical tools to analyse the data. The findings revealed that most inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis have a positive view about assessment practices and confirm to employ it in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms. It was also evident that most inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis have knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive schools. Again, it was revealed that most public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis employ assessment tools in supporting the learning need of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive schools. However, from the findings, it was found that most public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis are faced with many problems that hinder them in their quest to administer assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms.

It was therefore recommended that more workshops and in-service training should be organized to inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis with respect to their assessment practices for the intellectually difficult children. In addition, teachers should also be sensitized on regular basis on the importance of their assessment practices with regard to construction, administration and scoring of tests.



CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUICTION

1.0 Background to the Study

The fruitage of education cannot be fully realized if there is no measure to successfully check the success and weaknesses of it. Fortunately for us as humanity, the check on how successful and poor our classroom teaching and learning has become is to *assess*. Assessment influences all aspects of students' education (Brown, Rust & Gibbs 1994; Gibbs, 2006). Changes in assessment will result in changes in learning, so care must be taken in reconsidering assessment practices.

Teaching, as a practice is hinged on assessment: for there cannot be an effective teaching without further assessing whether what has been taught has gone down well or not. Hence assessment is an important component of teaching (Dhindsa, Omar, & Waldrip, 2007, p.1261). In other for the teacher to describe the nature and extent of the learner's learning in terms of how far the aims and objectives of teaching have been achieved and what is left to be covered, there is the need for assessment of the learner (Tamakloe, Atta & Amedahe, 1996). According to Lumadi (2013), nobody denies that assessment plays an integral part in the teaching, learning, and entire educational process. Similarly, Heaton (1975) states that, both testing and teaching are so closely interrelated that it is virtually impossible to work in either field without being constantly concerned with the other.

Assessment is used in everyday life to refer to different things, depending on the context, the system, and the philosophy underlying the system in which it is used. For instance, in systems, such as the United States of America, the concept evaluation

would suffice (Rowntree, 1981) and in Anglophone systems (Rwanamiza, 2004) they would talk about evaluation instead of assessment.

Tuttle (2009) defines assessment as a process of giving feedback which develops and expands student learning. Likewise, Heaton (1975) and Phye (1997) assert that assessment is a systematic process that entails identifying the extent to which students have mastered and achieved the learning goals. Assessment in special / inclusive education refers to "the process of gathering inter-personal and intra-personal performance data on the learner's current behaviour language or motor skills..." (Wallace & Larsen, 1992).

There is increasing empirical evidence that the quality of learning depends on the adopted learning approach (Ramsden et al. 1986; Charman et al. 1995; Gibbs, 1999; Ramsden, 1992; Ho et al. 2001; Ramsden, 2003). The approach is determined by a plan which delineates what should be taught, and when and how it should be taught (Gensee & Upshur 1996). They can as well be thought of as blueprint for achieving course objectives as well. Because assessment significantly affects students' approach to learning, assessment paradigms have shifted from "testing learning of students to assessing for students learning" (Birenbaum & Feidman, 1998, p. 92).

Additionally, to raise standards in pupils' learning an assessment-led reform which is widely considered a powerful tool in promoting higher standards of teaching and learning and a more credible means for public accountability should be adopted (Black and Wiliam, 1998 a and b; Broadfoot and Black, 2004; Black, Harrison, Lee, Marshall, and Wiliam, 2010).

Classroom assessment (formative assessment) is considered as a critical factor in promoting quality education and has become the pivot of various educational improvement efforts (Owusu-Oduro, 2015).

Eventually, Assessment of children's achievement is changing largely because today's children face a world that will demand new knowledge and abilities (Agbemaka, 2016). For instance, in the global economy of the 21st century, children will not only need to understand the basics, but also to think critically, to analyse, and to make inferences (Boston, 2002). Helping children to develop these skills will require changes in assessment at the school and classroom level, as well as giving new approaches to large scale, high-stake assessment as pointed out by the North Central Regional Educational Laboratory (NCREL, 1994) in the U.S.

There is vast literature available that links childrens' learning approaches to the perceptions children have about assessment (Crooks, 1988; Boud, 1990; Gibbs, 1999; Crossman, 2004). The influence of assessment on study strategies adopted by children has been extensively researched (Laurilland, 2002). Moreover, there are recent works on assessment of learners from different parts of the world, for instance Australia (Crossman, 2004), United Kingdom (Maclellan, 2001), Rwanda, (Rwanamiza, 2004) and Ghana (Akyeampong, Pryor & Ghartey, 2006).

Experts in the assessment world generally agree that no single tool or approach can fully capture the complete picture of student learning. Fortunately, there are many more assessment tools and approaches available today than there were a decade ago (Borden & Kernel, 2010). Similarly, in a report by NWEA (2012), the authors point out that no single assessment can provide the breadth and depth of information needed to understand student learning and support improved instruction. To this effect,

teacher educators recommend the use of authentic measures for assessing students (Goodman, Arbona, & De Rameriz, 2008). Wiggins (1990) defines authentic

assessment as one which requires the students to use knowledge of skills to produce a product or complete a performance. In spite of these recommendations, Garrison & Ehringhaus (2007) assert that there are still educators who only practice traditional models of assessment, for example, paper and pencil exams. Limited research also shows that the most commonly used authentic assessments include teacher observation, self-observation checklists, demonstration, peer observation, and event tasks. Alternatively, the least commonly used techniques were the essay and the portfolio techniques (Mintah, 2003).

Over the past four decades, (Owusu-Oduro, 2015) research on assessment has gained prominence in educational discourse and as a result, has contributed in shifting attention towards improving learning outcomes. The focus of this attention has been towards greater interest in the interaction between assessment and classroom learning and away from the concentration on the properties of restricted forms of tests which are only weakly linked to the learning experiences of children (Black & William, 1998).In support of this Asamoah-Gyimah (2002) opined, "classroom or teachermade tests are frequently used as a major evaluating device of childrens' progress in schools'' (p. 2). Hardly can one envisage or conceptualize an educational system where the child is not put under a classroom or teacher-made tests.

According to Anamuah-Mensah and Quagrain (1998), tests have been regarded as one of the most tangible clues and the most crucial yardstick in determining the attainment of the objectives of any learning experience. The question remains whether children are taught so that they can excel on a test or whether they are taught to construct meaning that will sustain in the long term. As Dhindsa et al. (2007) summarize, teachers "sacrifice learning for drilling children in the things that they will be held accountable" (p. 1262). According to Stiggins (1991), "teachers spend much of their instructional time ('a third to a half') in assessment related activities. While this would suggest the need for teachers to be knowledgeable with assessment practices, that is not the case," (p. 85).

In a national survey, Ward (1980) reported that only about half of the teachers had received pre- service instruction in tests and measurement. In recent times, as more and more emphasis is being placed on child performance and teacher accountability, measurement and assessment are becoming increasingly important to all educators. It is critical therefore that teachers possess not only comprehensive knowledge of subject matter but also the ability to assess the learning of the subject matter (Anhwere, 2009). Amedahe (1989) noted that.

Teachers from stage one/class one, even in the kindergarten to the university in the Ghanaian education system engage in some sort of assessment practices in order to determine whether learning has taken place or not, or sometimes for selection to the next ladder of education. Besides, teachers construct tests to find out problem areas of children in specific areas of topics treated.

Undoubtedly, classroom assessment plays an important role in teaching and learning, yet, available research has identified a number of problems that bedevil the quality of classroom assessment. In the UK and America for instance, problems have been found with the use of poorly focused questions, a predominance of questions that require short answers involving factual knowledge, the elicitation of responses that involve repetition rather than reflection, and a lack of procedures designed to develop higher order skills (Black & William, 1998). Research has shown that classroom

discourse in sub-Saharan African schools emphasizes recitation and rote memorization without encouraging pupil understanding (Hardman, Abd-Kadir, & Smith, 2008; Kanu, 1996; Pontefract & Hardman, 2005). Instructional approaches that focus on rote learning are limited in their ability to assess higher levels of knowledge among students.

Evidence of similar situations where questions asked were often narrow and demanded recall of information rather than facilitating higher order thinking has also been cited in Kenya (Kelleghan & Greaney, 1992). In addition, it was found out that there was little assessment of pupils' understanding of what had been taught before lessons were introduced (Ackers, Migoli & Nzomo, 2001). In Tanzania, teachers' questioning was found to require only the recall of facts whereby pupils responded individually or in chorus (O-saki & Agu, 2002). From a study that compared Ghanaian and Japanese classroom assessments, Hattori and Saba, (2008) found that Japanese teachers asked higher order thinking skills questions than their Ghanaian counterparts.

To face these problems head on, Andrews and Barnes (1990), observed that the most important service that can be rendered to classroom teachers in a measurement course is teaching the technique of constructing, administering and scoring classroom or teacher –made tests based on the basic principles in measurement and evaluation. Improving assessment literacy is important for teachers (as well as school and district administrators) as it help them understand different assessments and make effective use of assessment data (Darling-Hammond, 2010; Herman, Osmundson, & Dietel, 2010; Nelson, 2013; Northwest Evaluation Association [NWEA], 2012); enables teachers to deeply understand the standards, thereby improving their professional

practice and capacity to support student learning and achievement (Darling-Hammond, 2010; Darling-Hammond & Adamson, 2013; Rosemartin, 2013); ensure that feedback from assessments is timely, specific, understandable to the receiver, and actionable (McTighe & O'Connor, 2005; NWEA, 2012); help teachers find the assessment type that are most useful to their instructional practice (Lazarin, 2014; Nelson, 2013; NWEA, 2012); assist teachers in considering the costs of assessments, including test preparation and lost instructional time (Nelson, 2013); prioritize quality over quantity when it comes to required assessments (Darling-Hammond, 2010); incorporate different kinds of data to evaluate students (Darling-Hammond, 2010; Darling-Hammond & Adamson, 2013; Kamenetz, 2015; Nelson, 2013, Rosemartin, 2013). These examples illustrate how assessment can be used to support and enhance student learning, as well as to improve teaching.

Lundberg and Reichenberg (2013) in their work, "Developing Reading Comprehension Among students with Mild Intellectual Disabilities" assessed forty (40) pupils with mild intellectual disabilities. The test instruments covered word recognition, sentence comprehension, fluency, reading comprehension of connected passages and listening comprehension. Their procedure was modeled after Reciprocal Teaching (RT), including explicit instruction of four basic strategies; prediction, question generation, clarification and summarization. A clear result from the study was that students with mild intellectual disability were able to participate in constructive text talks, as majority of the students scored a maximum of 15 points.

Browder, Wakeman, Ahlbrim-Delzell, & Algozzine, (2006) review of 128 studies of reading interventions with one or more students with moderate to severe intellectual disabilities, most interventions were found to focus on sight words, with

about 33% using picture identification tasks. Less than one third included any comprehension skills. Interventions that taught fluency, phonics or phonemic awareness were uncommon. Different methods of sight word instruction have been used, including time delay, picture integration, and picture fading. Time delay, which calls for a period of time to pass before the student is prompted to say the word, was found more effective than the other two, in which a picture cue for the sight word is faded as the letters of the word simultaneously become more dominant or the pictures fade but the word itself stays at the same intensity. However, sight word instruction has not been found to help with decoding new words and requires direct instruction on each word taught, limiting it as a reading strategy (Bradford et al., 2006).

Dutch researchers have investigated how reading comprehension for 12-yearold students with mild intellectual disabilities may be improved (Varnhagen & Goldman, 1986).The point of departure was that people with intellectual disabilities do not comprehend casual relations within the form of written texts. For 30 minutes a day for eight weeks, the students were given exercises in order to develop their ability to make casual inferences. By emphasizing causality the researchers hypothesized that this would enhance the students' reading comprehension. The hypothesis proved to be valid. Both expository texts and narratives were used in the study. In order to measure the comprehension level they made the students (1) retell what they had read, and (2) answer a series of why-questions (Vygotsky, 1978).

During a survey of SEN, a "screener" was administered to caregivers, siblings and teachers of children throughout Ghana (total N= 551). When asked "do you recognise any of the following labels as being associated with the child, 3.1% of respondents indicated yes to the label "developmental delay or autism" and 3.9% responded yes to the label "mental retardation or mental handicap" (Boro et al., 2006). This affirmation

by the respondents show the incidence of children with intellectual disabilities in the classrooms, yet teachers assess these learners as though they are all the same. In the words of Wade (2000) teachers use the "one-size-fits all" approach to teaching and instructions.

In reality, teachers are faced with a group of learners with different characters, interests, styles, and pace of learning and working. Curriculum differentiation should not be an exception but rather a central method of ensuring curriculum access (Gilbert & Hart, 1990). From the foregoing discourse, the researcher found it expedient to investigate the various assessment practices teachers employ in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms in the Kumasi metropolis.

1.1 Statement of the Problem

In most countries, there is a considerable gap between what is learned in the classroom and the real-life sense of the present or future world of pupils (Anamuah-Mensah & Towse, 1995). The same could be said with regard to Ghana, though there is a centrally defined curriculum that is approved by a centralized body, the Curriculum Research and Development Division (CRDD), for all schools under the auspices of the Ministry of Education, the Curriculum Research and Development Division (CRDD) does not provide for special arrangements for children with needs, particularly those with intellectual disabilities in classrooms and children with hearing and visual disability. Gadagbui (1998) found that both normal and special schools follow the National Curriculum, with some degree of adjustment for children with visual and hearing impairments. She notes;

Not much has been achieved in the area of curriculum adaptation to address the diverse learning needs of children with special needs in the regular classroom (p.15).

It raises the question of whether the goals of the National Curriculum can be met for all children who are especially underage with intellectual disabilities. Can all kids meet the same standards? Would the National Curriculum assessment procedures be sufficient for all children, and particularly those with intellectual disabilities?

In addition, one notion we endorse as Ghanaians is that since graduates from the various universities have taken a semester or two courses in evaluation and testing, that is enough to guarantee good evaluation practices in the kindergarten Level particularly for mentally disabled children. This premise assumes that tutors in colleges of teacher training build, administer and score classroom or teacher-made tests based on the basic principles of measurement and evaluation testing (Anhwere, 2009). In certain instances, the assumption is not completely true. In contrast, studies by Amedahe (1989) and Quagrain (1992) revealed that most Ghanaian teachers had limited ability to build goal and essay type tests, which are the most frequently used tools in our schools. That's because most initial teacher training programs don't have enough space for a testing course. Amedahe (2000) argued that "teacher-based tests can be made of a number of factors, including training in evaluation techniques, class size and the policy of a particular school in evaluation standards with implications for the validity and reliability of the evaluation results" (p. 112-113).

This study sought to find out the various assessment practices teachers in our various inclusive classrooms employ to assess children (early childhood) with Intellectual disabilities. The study sought to examine the testing practices of teachers in selected public inclusive kindergartens in Ghana (Kumasi in particular) in terms of the development and construction, administering and scoring of classroom or teacher-

made tests. As children with disabilities are still struggling with educational exclusion, and present worrying drop-out rates, as teaching models, assessment procedures, and curricula are not tailored to accommodate their needs (UNESCO, 2009)

1.2 Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to explore the various assessment practices early childhood teachers employ in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms in selected early childhood centers of the Kumasi metropolis.

1.3 Objectives of the Study

- i.Explore the views of early childhood teachers regarding assessment practices in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis.
- ii.Ascertain the level of teacher knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis.
- iii.Investigate the assessment tools teachers employ in assessing the learning needs of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis.
- iv.Examine the problems faced by early childhood teachers in administering assessment to children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis.

1.4 Research Questions

The study was guided by the following research questions:

- 1. What are the views of teachers regarding assessment practices for children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms in the Kumasi metropolis?
- 2. What is the level of teacher knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive

early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis?

3. What assessment tools do teachers employ in assessing the learning needs of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis?

4. What problems do kindergarten teachers face in administering assessment tools to children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive public early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis?

1.5 Significance of the Study

Since kindergarten teachers in the public schools in Ghana are homogeneous, based on the qualifications, the conclusions and recommendations made could be quite relevant and a guide to all kindergarten teachers in public early childhood centres on how to assess children with intellectual disabilities. Currently, the education system in Ghana practises an examination-oriented learning culture, in which teaching and learning are more likely to be driven by marks and qualifications. This study encourages shifts in practices to better educate students who need to respond well to demands of today's societies.

Additionally, the study could serve as an important reference source for inclusive public and private kindergarten teachers, headmasters/mistresses, Teacher Education Division (TED), Early Childhood Care and Development Division (ECCDD) and Special Education Division of the Ghana Education Service (GES),University of Education (UEW) and the Institute of Education, of the University of Cape Coast, (UCC) and other private educational institutions that train teachers in their effort to improve the management of testing with the adequate information about what is actually involved in assessment practices in the Early Childhood Centres. It is hoped that the study would complement studies already undertaken in this subject matter.

Besides, the study could contribute to the improvement of testing practices, specifically, on children with intellectual disabilities on construction, administration and scoring of teacher-made tests in the inclusive early childhood centers.

1.6 Delimitations of the Study

The study focused on 284 teachers from 71 selected inclusive public kindergartens in the Kumasi Metropolis. The study was limited to the assessment practices of teachers on children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive public early childhood centres. It was as well limited to inclusive classrooms only. As a result, findings from this study cannot be generalised to all/other forms of disabilities or classrooms.

Besides, issues concerning assessment practices are so numerous that it would not be feasible for any one study to identify all. There are 158 public early childhood centers in the Kumasi metropolis.

Finally, the study was delimited to issues of test construction, administration and scoring based upon the basic principles of testing. Other areas of study will include problems faced by kindergarten teachers in the management of testing practices in the Early Childhood Centers.

1.7 Limitation of the Study

The researcher was faced with several limitations. This study employed the use of descriptive research methodology which may not produce all of the related practices of teachers' assessment for children with intellectual disabilities, the extent of using these methods and tools and their effectiveness. Another limitation of this study could be that though the researcher did this study through teachers' point of views, there are enough room and would be interesting if the based on observation and also large scale. Likewise, only one hundred and twenty (120) teachers were considered here.

Furthermore, negative attitudes of the respondents towards filling in the questionnaires; getting time with principals/circuit supervisors at schools; and finally, limited interactions between the researcher, teachers and students since they work under fixed schedule at school. However, the researcher found convenient time like break and made use of introductory letter to mitigate for the negative attitude.

1.8 Operational Definition of Terms

- Assessment: the process of collecting information to make decisions concerning children's education.
- Assessment Tools: any test or procedure (for example, ability test, structured interview, work sample) used to measure a student's qualifications and interests (U.S. Department of Labor, 2000).

- **Classroom Assessment Practices**: Teachers' beliefs and the value they have regarding assessment of students, their perceptions about assessment training, their test planning, construction, to grading and use of assessment results.
- **Evaluation:** Judgement regarding the quality, value or worth of a response, product, or performance, based on established criteria and curriculum standards
- **Inclusion** means that children with special needs are part of the regular classroom and are educated with their age-appropriate peers by general classroom teachers.
- Intellectual disabilities: Within this study, intellectual disabilities will include disabilities identified by the special education team in the school of study. For purposes of this study children with mild to moderate intellectual disabilities will be considered.
- **Special Education Teachers** receive specialized training in working with children who have special needs. These teachers operate within resource rooms or as a support to children with special needs in inclusive classrooms.
- **Students with Special Needs** include those students with learning, multiple, or physical disabilities, speech, and language problems, behavior disorders, mild and moderate forms of designated disabilities, and giftedness.
- Summative Assessment occurs at the end of an instructional unit to document student achievement.

1.9 Organization of the Study

The study will be organized into five chapters. The first chapter will discuss the Introduction, which will highlight the background to the study, the research problem,

and the purpose for the study. The research questions will be stated, with the significance and delimitation of the study.

Chapter Two will review the literature related to the study. The review will involve empirical studies and conceptual framework. The third chapter will describe the methodology used for the study. This involves the research design, population and sampling procedure, the research instrument, the pre-testing procedure, the procedure for data collection and the data analysis. In Chapter Four, the results will be discussed while the final chapter will summarize the study and provides conclusions. Recommendations will be given in the last section of the chapter based upon the findings of the study.



CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.0 Introduction

This chapter discusses the relevant literature pertaining to the development of the inclusive schools philosophy and teachers' assessment and grading practices. Specifically, it provides a brief overview of the history of inclusive education, the rationale and philosophy underlying inclusive educational settings and some of the implications of implementing inclusive practices in schools. Also provided is a comprehensive definition of the inclusive classroom and inclusion within the school.

Information is gathered from journals, abstracts, the internet, books, and works people have done on managing teaching and learning in the classroom. For easy referencing, the literature was reviewed under various sub-headings, as follows:

- Constructivist Learning Theory
- Constructivists' Assessment
- The Concept of Early Childhood Education
- The Importance of Early Childhood Education
- Concept of Assessment Practice
- The Concept of Inclusion Education in Ghana
- Early Childhood Teachers View about Assessment Practices
- Early Childhood Teachers' Knowledge about Assessment Practices
- Challenges of Early Childhood Teachers about Assessment Practices
- Assessment Practices

Constructivist Learning Theory

Constructivist learning theory says that all knowledge is constructed from a base of prior knowledge (Davis, 1991). According to Vygotsky (cited in Davis 1991), children are not blank slate and knowledge cannot be imparted without the child making sense of it according to their current conceptions; therefore, children learn best when they are allowed to construct a personal understanding based on experiencing things and reflecting on those experiences. Davis (1991) again states that learners are the makers of meaning and knowledge and constructivist teaching fosters critical thinking, and creates motivated and independent learners. This theoretical framework holds that learning always builds upon knowledge that a student already has; this prior knowledge is called a schema (Davis, 1991). He then explains that because all learning is filtered through pre-existing schemata, constructivists suggest that learning is more effective when a student is actively engaged in the learning process rather than attempting to receive knowledge passively.

James and Pedder (2006) also state that the focus of constructivists is on how people construct meaning and make sense of the world through organizing structures, concepts and principles in schema (mental models). According to James and Pedder (2006), prior knowledge is regarded as a powerful determinant of a pupil's capacity to learn new material. He then indicates that cognitive constructivists emphasize 'understanding,' thus problem solving is seen as the context for knowledge construction. Davis (1991) again argues that processing strategies, such as deductive reasoning from principles and inductive reasoning from evidence, are important and as a result, differences between experts and novices are marked by the way in which experts organize knowledge structures and their competence in processing strategies.

Torrance and Pryor (2001) point out that the interaction between teacher-pupil goes further than just finding out whether the pupil has reached the target behaviour, as in behaviourism. Teacher-pupil interaction in a test situation goes beyond the communication of test results, the judgments of progress and the provision of additional instruction, to include a role for the teacher in assisting the pupil to comprehend and engage with new ideas and problems (Torrance & Pryor 2001). To them, the process of assessment itself is seen as having an impact on the pupil, as well as the product or the result. Harlen (2006) stated that the constructivists' view of learning focuses attention on the processes of learning and the role of learners. Early childhood teachers engage pupils in self-assessment and use their own assessment to try to identify their current understanding and levels of skills.

2.1 Examples of constructivist activities

The constructivist classroom, students work primarily in groups and learning and knowledge are interactive and dynamic (Harlen, 2006). Davis (1991) states that with the constructivist classroom, there is a great focus and emphasis on social and communication skills, as well as collaboration and exchange of ideas which is contrary to the traditional classroom in which students work primarily alone, learning is achieved through repetition. He further argues that the subjects are strictly adhered to and are guided by a textbook. According to Duffy, Jonassen and Lowyck (1993), some activities encouraged in constructivist classrooms are:

- Experimentation: Students individually perform an experiment and then come together as a class to discuss the results.
- Research projects: Students research a topic and can present their findings to the class.
- Field trips. This allows students to put the concepts and ideas discussed in

class in a real-world context. Field trips would often be followed by class discussions

- Films. These provide visual context and thus bring another sense into the learning experience.
- Class discussions. This technique is used in all of the methods described above. It is one of the most important distinctions of constructivist teaching methods.

2.2 Constructivists' Assessment

Traditionally, assessment in the classrooms is based on testing thus it is important for the student to produce the correct answers (Davis, 1991). However, he further posits that in constructivist teaching, the process of gaining knowledge is viewed as being just as important as the product. Thus, assessment is based not only on tests, but also on observation of the student, the student's work, and the student's points of view (Davis, 1991). According to Davis (1991), some constructivists' assessment strategies include:

- Oral discussions. The teacher presents students with a "focus" question and allows an open discussion on the topic.
- What we know, what we want to know, what we have learned, How we know it (KWL-H) Chart. This technique can be used throughout the course of study for a particular topic, but is also a good assessment technique as it shows the teacher the progress of the student throughout the course of study.
- Mind Mapping. In this activity, students list and categorize the concepts and ideas relating to a topic.

2.3 The Concept of Early Childhood Education

The definition of the term early childhood education, depends on the angle one picks it from. In terms of child's life, early childhood education is considered as the period from birth to eight years of age (Miles & Browne, 2004). Grotewell and Burton (2008) also shared this definition as they elaborated it accordingly as the time between the zero and eight years of age. However, by school terms, early childhood education incorporates the group settings for infants through elementary school grade three (Miles & Browne, 2004). In other words, early childhood education is a special branch of education serving with children from infancy to elementary grade level of three (Gonzalez-Mena, 2008). As definitions of these authorities imply, we believe that early childhood education brings or exposes children (birth to eight) into the world. Significance of the early childhood education increased tremendously all over the world within the last twenty years. This situation is complementary with research results based on long term effects of early education to later life (Groark, et, al., 2007).

2.4 The Importance of Early Childhood Education

Early childhood education, within the last few decades, considered different fields (Roopnarine & Johnson, 2005) such as developmental psychology, cultural psychology, childhood studies, cultural anthropology, history and philosophy. This is because recent studies showed that babies and young children are born with the capacity to understand the world around them (Nutbrown, 2006). In addition, children's brains are ready to learn when they come to the world. During this process; both the environment and genes take an important role which in turn, builds the brain (Levitt, 2008). Considering what have been said so far by authorities in respect to childhood education, it can be asserted that children are been perceived as competent

learners rather than empty slates. This has therefore brought changes in the way of perceiving children or early childhood education. The readiness of children to learn even when they are just born triggered the ideas of necessity of early childhood education both for the individual child and for the society as a whole.

Longitudinal studies have shown that early childhood education is the period when children's develop more rapid and expand their intellectual faculties as they grow. Therefore, education in this crucial period creates significance for the development of children. In a study conducted by Barnett (1995), it was found that getting an early childhood education provided an increase in the IQ level of children in the short term and in the long term; it increased the child's school achievement.

Early childhood education also becomes more beneficial especially, for the children coming from low socio-economic background. Bassok, Bridges, Fuller, Loeb and Rumberger (2007) identified benefits of being exposed to early education for children coming from low-income families as cognitive growth and school readiness. Besides children from low socio-economic background, good quality of early childhood education provides early reading and math skills to children from high and middle socio-economic status.

Early education cultivates children in terms of socialization rather than purely academic enhancement such as math and reading. Webb (2003) elaborated that children learn cooperation through education in child care centers and such skills help them to obey rules and stay safe in the society. Regarding socialization, parents also share the same perspective. In the study of Seng (1994), it was revealed that one of the biggest reasons for parents sending children to early childhood education center is to get them socialized. In fact, in a longitudinal study, Kagitcibasi (1991) explained

that children who received early childhood education became emotionally and socially more competent adults compared to the ones whom did not received early education.

In addition to the above exposition on early childhood education, we also have the conviction that proper early childhood education will help children enjoy academic benefits; early education provides children a better future in the long term such as preparing them for school and increase in high school graduation rates.

It is however imperative for the Government of Ghana to start to pay particular attention to the early childhood education since it has been proved that good quality of early education has long lasting effects on the children's later life and very productive for the society. To affirm this idea, Oppenheim and MacGregor (2002) established that children who receive early education are less likely to involve in crime and more likely to complete their high school education and get into a college education. In another studies such as Chicago Longitudinal study and the Cost, Quality and Child outcome study indicated that getting high quality early childhood education make children become successful students and citizens in their later lives (Reynolds & Ou, 2004).

On the other hand, according to the World Bank Report (2005), between 0-6 years of age, each 1 dollar invested on children was returned in a fold of 7.6 dollars in the future as a result of the productivity gained through early childhood education. Parallel to this study, Everingham, Karoly, and Kilbourne (1997) indicated that rate of the return of the investment in people in early childhood period is higher compared to investment in other periods of human life.

In addition, research results support that through early childhood education, children are exposed to good quality experience, which allows the connections in their brains to develop and this is of immense importance to the society. Such results opened the way to start education of brains as early as possible. In one of the study conducted by Knudson (2004), it was elaborated that developmental flexibility of brain wiring or its ability to change due to influences of experience were affected by both genes and early environmental factors. So, the necessity occurs for educators, policy makers and others in the society helping children to construct their initial brain architecture by providing education for them in their early ages.

Findings of the longitudinal and cross sectional studies (Kagitcibasi 1991; Barnett, 1995; Openheim & MacGregor, 2002; Reynolds & Ou, 2004) related the benefits of early childhood education provided logical reasons to emphasize on early education for a better society. Besides, in the last twenty years, socio-cultural changes such as getting into the information age and changes in the world order through globalization triggered early childhood education to be a concern of many societies.

2.5 Concept of Assessment Practice

The term assessment means different things to different people. Nitko (2001) cites the American Federation of Early childhood teachers, National Council on Measurement in Education and National Education Association, who see assessment as a method of obtaining information that is used to make decision about students' curriculum and programme and national policy. From this, assessment can be viewed as a means of collecting information about students in order to help in making decisions concerning the students' wellbeing in terms of the curriculum and programme and national policies on education.
Palomba and Banta (1999) define assessment as "the systematic collection, review and use of information about educational programmes undertaken for the purpose of improving learning and development" (p. 4). They are more specific in the use of assessment results to improve learning and development. This implies that the information collected from assessment should be that which could be used by teachers to help students to enhance their academic performance.

Green and Lewis (1986) on the other hand viewed assessment as the estimation of the relative magnitude, importance or value of an individual's work or performance observed. According to them, assessment is not just the collection of the information but looking at how valuable the information that has been collected is the focus of assessment. Early childhood teachers usually do this as they observe their students at work in school and through the conduct of various tests and other assignments periodically.

In assessment, early childhood teachers communicate with students through various means in order to gather meaningful information to make decisions concerning different aspects of students' development. Tamakloe, Amedahe and Atta (2005) maintained that "assessment occurs when one person through some kind of interaction with another, obtains and interprets information about that other person in terms of his knowledge and understanding or abilities or attitudes" (p. 176). Airasian (1991) also sees assessment to be a process whereby information about a student is collected, interpreted and synthesized to assist in decision making.

McMillan (2001) notes that there are a number of "essential" assessment concepts that early childhood teachers need to know about to make valid decision about students, various means should be used to obtain the information so that any bias will be

removed. The information gathered could be from different sources in order to make the decision about the student. Linn and Grolund (1995) supported McMillan's (2001) assertion that assessment should be used to gather information about student learning.

Nitko (1996) defines assessment as "a process for obtaining information about learners" (p. 4). From the various definitions by the different authorities, the main issue about the definition of assessment is on the gathering of information about students in order to make an informed decision that will support the wellbeing of the student. Assessment is the process of observing a sample of a student's behaviour and drawing inferences about the students' knowledge and abilities (Ormrod, 2008). When one is looking at students' behaviour, typically, only a sample of classroom behaviour is used.

Assessment is for the benefit of not only the student but the teacher and other stakeholders as well. According to McAlpine (2002), assessment is a form of communication to the student as a form of feedback to their learning. It also serves as feedback to the early childhood teachers teaching. To the curriculum designer, it is the feedback on the curriculum and to the administrator as a feedback on the use of resources and to employers to indicate the quality of job applications.

To Allen (2004), assessment is the systematic process of documenting and using empirical data on knowledge, skill, attitudes, and beliefs to refine programs and improve student learning. The concept assessment itself can be defined and interpreted in several ways like financial, educational or even psychological assessment (Angelo & Cross, 1993). Bardes and Denton (2001) conceptualized assessments are systematic methods of gathering data under standardized conditions and reaching a conclusion regarding the knowledge, qualification and potential of an

employee. Assessment, according Bardes and Denton (2001) is the systematic collection, review, and use of information about educational programs undertaken for the purpose of improving learning and development. To Palomba and Banta (1999), assessment is the process of gathering and discussing information from multiple and diverse sources in order to develop a deep understanding of what students know, understand, and can do with their knowledge as a result of their educational experiences. The process ends when assessment results are used to improve subsequent learning.

The Yukon Department of Education (2015) defined the concept of assessment as the systematic process of gathering information from many sources to make appropriate educational decisions. It identifies the student's strengths and needs and contributes to the design and implementation of effective strategies. Classroom early childhood teachers are in a position to offer an abundance of information regarding students in their classrooms.

Assessment is an orderly procedure for collecting data about student achievement and serves as an indispensable component of teaching and learning (Dhindsa et al., 2007). According to Hodges, Eames, and Coll (2014) the principal goal of any educational program is to facilitate student learning. Therefore, in educational programs, assessment is intrinsically linked to student learning and performance. Assessment of student performance and learning necessarily includes consideration of hard and soft skills and involves a variety of assessors. Struyven et al. (2006) were of view that the impact of assessment is significantly observable on students' performance. The way students approach learning determines the way they think about classroom assignments and tests. Pellegrino and Goldman (2017), and Shepard (2000) suggested

that classroom assessment can be improved in order to increase learning, such as the content and the characteristics of assessment, utilisation of assessment results and integration of assessment as a course in educational programmes.

It is noted that because assessment significantly affects students' approach to learning, assessment patterns have shifted from testing learning of students to assessing for students learning (Birenbaum & Feldman, 1998). According to (Gulikers, Bastiaens, & Kirschner, 2006), current assessment methods are attempting to increase the correspondence between what students need to learn and what is expected for them to know once they finish their studies. However, the demand remains whether students are taught so that they can excel on a test or whether they are taught to construct meaning that will sustain in the long term.

According to Romanoski, Cavanagh, Fisher, Waldrip and Dorman (2005) although early childhood teachers and administrators typically select assessment forms and tasks, the purpose of assessment varies among various stakeholders, including students, early childhood teachers, parents, schools, and policy makers. Hence, including students' and early childhood teachers' perceptions in designing assessment tools would be considered reasonable, given the fact that both students' preferences and early childhood teachers' rationale might influence the way students proceed with learning and the way it is tested.

Goodrum, Hackling and Rennie (2005) state that, ideally, assessment enhances learning, provides feedback about student progress, builds self-confidence and selfesteem, and develops skills in evaluation. In addition, they argue that effective learning occurs when correspondence exists between teaching, evaluation, and results. Therefore, due to its close relation with instruction and learning outcomes, assessment has a key role in learning. Although little evidence exists that students should be involved in decision making about assessment tasks, earlier studies such as Romanoski (2005) recommend an investigation of student involvement in classroom assessment.

Goodrum, Hackling and Rennie (2001) assert that, assessment is a key component of teaching and learning process. Brown and Pendlebury (1992) indicated that the purpose of assessment is primarily concerned with providing guidance and feedback to the learner on their learning. The nature and extent of this guidance and feedback is dependent upon the purpose of the assessment. As a purpose, assessment prepare students for life and this is based on the view that learning is not something that only occurs during formal education, but is something that occurs throughout life (Rowntree, 1987). Given the influence of assessment on learning, Rowntree (1987) argued that assessment should help students to understand their own learning by providing feedback to themselves and be discouraged off dependence on others for knowledge of how well he or she is doing.

Boud and Falchikov (2006) considered that equal attention needs to be given to all components of assessment alongside the well-established purposes of assessment for certification and assessment to aid current learning. Traditional approaches to assessment involve the teacher determining the required learning, the related assessment tasks and criteria, the performance of the student, and the grade awarded. Such approaches mean the student takes a passive, rather than active, role in assessment; counter to the need for sustainable assessment practices that help prepare students for lifelong learning beyond the academy.

Boud and Falchikov (2006) argued that assessment activities should not only address the immediate needs of certification or feedback to students on their current learning, but also contribute in some way to their prospective learning. When graduates leave the confines of a formal education environment they will need to be equipped to make their own judgments about themselves, their performance and their learning, in a world described by Barnett (1999) as one involving super-complexities in which knowledge of what is required in a job is frequently changing. In such a world, workers will need the capability to learn and change as a result of experience and reflection (Duke, 2002). In as much the concept assessment is concerned, there seem to be ways that can be employed to get assessment executed, thus, assessment method. According to the University System of Georgia (1992); Western Carolina University (1999), assessment methods are the strategies, techniques, tools and instruments for collecting information to determine the extent to which students demonstrate desired learning outcomes. Several methods should be used to assess student learning outcomes. Direct methods of assessment ask students to demonstrate their learning while indirect methods ask students to reflect on their learning. Tests, essays, presentations are generally direct methods of assessment, and indirect methods include surveys and interviews.

2.6 The Concept of Inclusive Education in Ghana

Inclusion in education is recognized as a basic human right and the foundation for a more just and equal society (European Agency for Development in Special Needs Education, 2012). According to the Children's Act 778, Section 5, of the Ghana constitution, "The Inclusive Education is based on the value system which holds that all persons who attend an educational institution are entitled to equitable access to quality teaching and learning which transcends the idea of physical location but

incorporates the basic values that promote participation, friendship and interaction." According to UNICEF (2014) policy on Inclusive Education, "Inclusive schools must recognize and respond to the diverse needs of their students, accommodating both different styles and rates of learning and ensuring quality education to all through appropriate curricula, organizational arrangements, teaching strategies, resource issues and in partnerships with their communities." Inclusive Education is when children with disabilities are placed in the same classroom environment as other children of their age who do not have disabilities. (Graphic online, 2014).

In addition, it is an educational system where every child shares in all facets of the educational process with facilities that address the specific unique needs of the individual as a matter of basic right and not charity (Obeng Asamoah, 2016). Inclusive Education is bringing together children with special needs and children with non-disabilities with the right support services in place to enhance learning. In other words, accepting and embracing all children with all forms of disabilities by giving them equal opportunities.

Inclusive Education began informally in Ghana as integration into schools since 1951 Accelerated Education Plan and the 1961 Educational Act for free education which resulted in basic enrolment. (Gadagbui, 2008). Then the Jomtien World Conference in Education of Education for All. The United Nations Educational, Scientific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) alongside with other UN Agencies and NGOs worked towards the achievement of this goal together with the efforts made at the country level. In 2006, the United Nations (UN) put forward the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD) within which Article 24 addresses the principles of inclusive education: Persons with disabilities can access an inclusive,

quality and free primary education and secondary education on an equal basis with others in the communities in which they live (UN, 2006, article 24).

All these, however to Gadagbui, (2008) did not provide what it takes to run an effective inclusion, as access to special schools was possible for some and those integrated had no equal opportunity. For example, the 1992 Constitution of Ghana had emphasized the Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education (FCUBE-1995) which also increased access to basic schools. Ministry of Education/Ghana Education Service adapts Inclusive Education. The Ministry of Education knowing well that Ghana is a signatory to the Salamanca and Dakar Conferences pursued these rights hence in its Education Strategic Plan of 2003-2015 adapted Inclusive Education.

The inclusion of mild to moderate children with disability into the mainstream started as a pilot project 2003-2004 with three regions; Central Region, Eastern Region, Greater Accra with ten (10) districts but now Northern Region and Volta Region are added to create an increase of 4 districts to the 10 Districts initially created. (Gadagbui, 2008).

2.7 Inclusion of children with intellectual disabilities in the Classroom

Research studies by Crawford (2005); Myklebust and Batevik, (2009) demonstrate the importance of inclusion for students with low functional skills and/or intellectual disabilities. Both studies explored the correlation between students who had been taught in inclusive classrooms and their future employment and economic independence. When severity of impairment was controlled, results from both studies indicated that students who were taught in inclusive, general education classes were more likely to find employment and be economically independent post-high school.

Based on the importance of early childhood for all children with and without disability and Special Education Needs and concern for Early Childhood Education for all children (Bredekemp, 2011: Darragh, 2010), inclusion should commence in early childhood (Smith et al.,2012). Therefore, Inclusive early childhood education is viewed as a living reflection of the developmentally appropriate practices (Delani, 2001) that is valuing diversity, individuality and the rights of all children to live in a community.it is about access, participation and support (DEC/NAEY, 2009) and the right to equal educational and social experiences for all children (Moore, 2009; Smith et al.,2012; Winter, 2007) and maximize children potential as they benefit academically and socially from provisions in Early Childhood Education settings.

In the 21st century Inclusive early childhood education is seen as a promise for all children to have learning and social opportunities together (Cologen, 2014; Winter, 2007) though exclusion can start early in life (Holdsworth, 2010). Children with disabilities often experience stigma from birth and abuse and are more prone to exclusion, concealment, abandonment, institutionalization and abuse(UNESCO,2009) and are still combating educational exclusion (UNESCO,2008).

Empirical evidence shows that Inclusive early childhood education is beneficial with and without disability, as well as teachers, parents and families, childcare providers, professionals and society (Allen & Cowderry, 2012; Deiner, 2013; Smith et al., 2012). Increasingly, Inclusive early childhood education classrooms are becoming the most common type of learning contexts for educational preschool children with disability (Gruenberg & Miller, 2011; Odom et al.; Soukakou, 2012).

2.8 Early Childhood Teachers View about Assessment Practices

There is enough evidence that in schools, assessment merely refers to tests, examinations and grading (Lissitz & Schafer, 2000). According to Dean (1999), most teacher education programmes skim over classroom assessment, leaving early childhood teachers to assess in the way they were assessed when they were in school. Campbell and Evans (2000) evaluated pre-service teacher who had completed course work in educational measurement and found that student early childhood teachers did not follow many assessment practices recommended. The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, NCTM, (2000) held that assessment has the potential to enhance mathematics learning and to promote students' interest in mathematics. This is too general a statement considering the fact that in most schools assessment means testing and grading (van de Wallen, 2001). Gullickson (1984) has the view that most early childhood teachers believe they have adequate knowledge of testing and measurement, more to experience than university course work.

Numerous researchers and organizations have specified that the content domain in which early childhood teachers need to develop assessment skills. Among the commonly discussed skills are choosing appropriate methods, developing paper and pencil test, administration and scoring tests interpreting standardized test results, evaluating and improving assessment instruments, using assessment in decision making and grading (Airasia, 1994; Stiggins 1992).

McMillan, Myran and Workman (2002) in their study, aimed at describing the nature of classroom assessment and grading practices, found that early childhood teachers were mostly interested in assessing students' mastery or achievement and that performance assessment was used frequently. Morgan and Watson (2002) reported

that most middle and high schoolteachers use teacher-constructed tests to assess students' achievement. In addition, Morgan and Watson found that most early childhood teachers view classroom assessment as an added requirement to their teaching job and not as a tool to improve their teaching.

Cooney (1994) and Garet and Mills (1995) found similar results. Cooney surveyed high school mathematics teachers' assessment practices while Garet and Mills surveyed grade 4 to 12 mathematics teachers across the United States. Both studies reported that teachers mostly used short-answer tests for assessment. The two studies further reported that there was a strong influence of publisher's assessment materials on classroom practices. Teachers use the readymade tests without making modifications to them (Cooney, 1994; Garet & Mills, 1995). Beckmann, Senk and Thompson (1997) identified three reasons why teachers do not use multiple assessment methods. First, some teachers had limited knowledge of different forms of assessment. Second, teachers felt they had no time to create different forms of assessment. Third, early childhood teachers felt there was little or no professional guidance; therefore, they (early childhood teachers) were not confident enough to try out other forms of assessments.

Cooney (1994) reported a strong link between assessment and grading in the minds of high school early childhood teachers. A study conducted by Gurski (2008) in Canada, examined secondary classroom early childhood teachers' assessment and grading practices in one urban school division. It compared the assessment practices of ten elementary early childhood teachers over a period of 11 weeks with Ohio's fourth and sixth grade science Proficiency Tests. The study asked secondary early childhood teachers, within inclusive classrooms, to indicate their current assessment and grading

practices. Evidence from the survey demonstrated that early childhood teachers in inclusive schools have diverse assessment and grading practices and that they have begun to explore the potential for assessment to assist all students in their learning.

In another study, by Chapman (2011) in New Zealand, on the assessment practices of early childhood teachers in New Zealand outdoor education tertiary programmes, it was found that early childhood teachers were generally highly skilled outdoor education practitioners; however, there were indications that there were gaps of understanding of theoretical assessment concepts. Early childhood teachers seemed to find summative assessment challenging but they routinely used formative assessment to promote learning and worked hard at providing quality opportunities for learning. The use of assessment criteria was common practice. The role of professional judgement in assessment decisions were treated with suspicion because it was seen as too subjective. However it became clear that professional judgement was essential aspect of their assessment practices.

2.8 Early Childhood Teachers' Knowledge about Assessment Practices

It is accepted that the proper use of assessment requires teachers to possess deep knowledge about the method or the procedures involved in using it. The American Federation of Teachers (AFT), the National Council on Measurement in Education (NCME), and the National Education Association (NEA) (1990) jointly indicated that, in using assessment, teachers should competently be able to choose and develop methods appropriate for assessment decisions, to administer, score and interpret results, and use the results when making educational decisions about students. The standards show that, teachers using assessment need to develop valid grading

procedures, communicate assessment results to various audiences and recognize unethical, illegal, and inappropriate methods and uses of assessment.

Brookhart (2011) proposed assessment knowledge and skills for teachers by emphasising that, teachers need to understand learning in the content area they teach, be able to set and apply learning intentions consistent with content and depth of the curriculum goals, and possess the strategies for communicating the expectations of the learning intentions to students. According to Brookhart (2011), teachers need to also understand the purposes of the assessment type, and be able to apply it, be skilful in analysing assessment type methods, be skilful in providing meaningful feedback on student work. Again, teachers need to have the ability to develop scoring schemes to quantify student performance for making informed educational decisions, be skilful in administering external assessments and interpreting their results. Furthermore, teachers need to be able to apply educational decisions made out from classroom assessments, be able to communicate assessment information to students to motivate them to learn, and understand the legal and ethical issues in the classroom assessment practices.

Koh (2011) indicated that assessment can be a powerful tool in making improvements in educational systems, and as such, Calderhead (1996) reports that its effectiveness depends on teachers' knowledge due to the continual interaction between teachers and students'. Knowledge in assessment by teachers is very vital in education because it gives them the impetus to do what is required for students to achieve what society expects from them. According to Darling-Hammond and September (2013), teacher involvement in the design, use, and scoring of performance-based assessments has the potential to powerfully link instruction, assessment, student learning, and teacher

professional development. In a policy document prepared in the United States, Darling-Hammond and September (2013) indicated that the use of high-quality standards and performance-based assessments over time has been shown to improve both teaching and learning. As teachers become more experts in their practice through involvement and engagement with performance-based assessments, the outcomes for students can be expected to improve. If used wisely, this approach has the potential to address multiple important education goals through one concentrated investment (Darling-Hammond & September, 2013).

According to Joetta and Carter (2001), high-achieving nations implement their standards by developing systems that incorporate curriculum, instruction, and assessment to improve both teaching and students' learning. Teachers are involved throughout the assessment process in developing, reviewing, scoring, and analyzing the results of student assessments, which enables them to understand the standards and develop stronger instruction. According to Black and Wiliam (2010), high-performing nations use open-ended performance tasks to give students opportunities to develop and demonstrate 21st Century skills, such as the ability to find and organize information to solve problems, frame and conduct investigations, analyze and synthesize data, and apply learning to new situations. Students solve extended problems in mathematics and the sciences, showing and explaining how they are approaching the task, compare and synthesize evidence from different kinds of data and texts, and then compose essays that explain and defend their thinking.

According to Darling-Hammond and September (2013), the growing emphasis on project-based, inquiry-oriented learning by high- performing nations has also caused many of these countries to introduce school- based tasks into their assessment

systems, such as research projects, science investigations, and development of products ranging from software solutions to engineering designs. The use of these types of assessments provides teachers with models of good curriculum and assessment practice, enhances curriculum equity within and across schools, and allows teachers to see and evaluate student learning in ways that can inform instructional and curriculum decisions. Such curriculum-embedded assessments can also build students' capacity to assess and guide their own learning (Darling-Hammond & September, 2013).

Recognising the need for teachers to possess an adequate knowledge in educational assessment, Plake and Impara (1992) developed an instrument titled the "Teacher Assessment Literacy Questionnaire (TALQ)" consisting of 35 items to measure teachers' assessment literacy. The TALQ was based on the Standards for Teacher Competence in Educational Assessment of Students (AFT, NCME, & NEA, 1990). The instrument was administered to a randomly sampled 555 in-service teachers around the United States. The results indicated that the teachers might not be well prepared to assess student learning as revealed by the average score of 23 out of 35 items correct (Plake, Impara, & Fager, 1993).

In his discussion of the assessment knowledge, Popham (2006) asserted the need for a continuous in-service assessment training aligned with the assessment realities. In a survey of assessment knowledge of purposively sampled 69 teacher candidates in Bangladesh by adapting Teacher Assessment Knowledge Questionnaire, Volante and Fazio (2007) found that the self-described levels of assessment knowledge remained relatively low for the candidates across the four years of the teacher education programme.

Likewise, Campbell, Murphy, and Holt (2002) applied the TALQ to a randomly sampled 220 undergraduate students in the United States who completed a course in tests and measurement. The results revealed that the average score for the sample was 21 out of 35 items correct, suggesting the need for more attention to the assessment literacy of the prospective teachers. Similarly, Mertler and Campbell (2005) developed another instrument titled the "Assessment Literacy Inventory (ALI)" consisting of 35 items in alignment to the "Standards for Teacher Competence in Educational Assessment of Students" (AFT, NCME, & NEA, 1990). The instrument was administered to a sample of 249 pre-service teachers in the United States. These results imply that teachers' assessment literacy deserve further recognition and investigation. When comparing assessment literacy of pre-service teachers and inservice teachers was lower than that of in-service teachers (Mertler, 2003; 2004). This suggests that an observed base in the classroom assessment might cause the difference in assessment literacy.

Alkharusi, Aldhafri, Alnabhani, and Alkalbani (2012) in their study in Oman, among randomly sampled 165 in-service teachers, using a self-report questionnaire revealed that although teachers held a favourable attitude towards assessment and perceived themselves as being competent in educational assessment, they demonstrated a low level of knowledge in performance-based assessment. Teachers used a variety of assessments in the classroom primarily for assigning grades and motivating students to learn, with some variations by gender, grade level, and subject area but were limited in terms of performance-based assessment. Teaching load and teaching experience accounted for some of the variations in teachers' educational assessment practices.

A mixed-method study conducted in Turkey among 22 teachers by Cimer and Cakır (2010) using questionnaire, interviews and document analysis revealed that, teachers interviewed were lacking knowledge about assessment and the situation was attributed to the fact that it was a new thing that was introduced into the educational curricular. The questionnaire asked teachers to indicate their perceived level of knowledge regarding the assessment methods introduced with the new curriculum.

As indicated in the study, the mean scores of the teachers' knowledge of the various performance assessment methods changed between 2-3, meaning that their levels of knowledge of these methods were between low and medium (Cimer & Cakır, 2010). Supporting this, during the interviews it was seen that teachers were aware of the changes and the requirements of the system but they did not implement them. When asked about the methods they used to assess their students, all of the teachers indicated primarily using written tests, which they had already been using before the changes were introduced. These tests comprised multiple choice, fill in the blanks and true-false type questions (Cimer & Cakır, 2010).

Overall, the results obtained showed that assessment was not effectively implemented in schools where the mixed-method study was conducted. The teachers continue to use traditional tests in their assessments. Only a few used portfolio and performance tasks, but they were not implemented effectively. For example, only two teachers indicated that they used portfolios but they treated it only as a folder to collect students' work (Cimer & Cakır, 2010). However, what makes a portfolio a valuable learning and assessment tool is its self-reflection component. Self-reflection process adds on the benefits of portfolio process to learning and differentiates it from a process of simply collecting samples of students' work in a folder (Paulson, Paulson,

Meyer, 1991). Thus, clearly, changes in the assessment system could not enter classrooms. The main reason drawn from the data is teachers' lack of knowledge of performance assessment methods.

Zhang and Burry-Stock (2003) surveyed a random sample of 297 teachers in America across teaching levels and content areas about their assessment skills using the Assessment Practices Inventory (API). Zhang and Burry-Stock (2003) found that teachers with training in assessment tended to report higher levels of self-perceived assessment skills in performance-based assessment, standardized testing, test revision and communicating assessment results. In a survey of 288 teacher candidates who were sampled randomly and enrolled in a teacher education programme in Canada, DeLuca and Klinger (2010) found that teacher candidates who chose to enrol in an educational assessment course had higher levels of confidence in assessment knowledge and skills than those who did not have formal instruction in assessment.

2.9 Challenges of Early Childhood Teachers about Assessment Practices

Eshun et al. (2014) conducted a study to investigate the influence of authentic assessment on classroom practices of early childhood teachers and the challenges they encounter in the Social Studies classroom in Ghana. The study used a descriptive case study design and it involved 10 senior high schools and twenty early childhood teachers randomly sampled from fifty-seven (57) senior high schools in the Central Region of Ghana. Semi-structured interview guide was the main instrument used for data collection. The research found out that the forms of authentic assessment some early childhood teachers used in their classrooms were limited due to examination policies, time, resources and assessment methods employed by their schools. Furthermore, they revealed that most early childhood teachers they observed were not

using assessment techniques that involved students in the teaching and learning process. Again, they indicated that some early childhood teachers revealed that using the authentic assessment would delay them in completing topics in their syllabuses given to them.

Beckmann, Senk and Thompson (1997) in their study conducted in USA identified three reasons why early childhood teachers do not use multiple assessment methods. First, some early childhood teachers had limited knowledge of different forms of assessment. Second, early childhood teachers felt they had no time to create/develop assessment. Third, early childhood teachers felt there was little or no professional guidance; therefore, early childhood teachers were not confident enough to try out authentic assessments.

Despite the rich results and improved academic work assessment presents to early childhood teachers in relation to their students' outcome, assessment faced is with a number of challenges. Palomba and Banta (1999b) indicated that measures are labour intensive as a significant amount of time and care must be set aside by early childhood teachers for planning and using assessment. Again, it is not clear that measures can be generalized to the student population. This lowers the level of generalization and can affect the perceived validity of the use of assessment measure.

Assessment is challenged in terms of the knowledge required to learn and execute. As the role of student assessment is changing today, it is largely because today's students face a world that demands knew knowledge and abilities, and the need to become lifelong learners in a world that demand competences and skills not yet defined (Segers, Dochy & Cascallar, 2003).

The information age is characterized by a steadily growing, dynamic and changing mass of information in terms of assessment. Students and early childhood teachers need digital literacy, but also a variety of competences in order to function well in the information society. Birenbaum (1996) has analyzed and categorized these competences and skills concerning assessment in the following way: (a) cognitive competences such as problem solving, critical thinking, formulating questions, searching for relevant information, making informed judgements, efficient use of information, conducting observations, investigations, inventing and creating new things, analyzing data, presenting data communicatively, oral and written expression; (b) meta-cognitive competences such as self-reflection, or self-evaluation (c) social competences such as leading discussions, persuading, cooperating, working in groups, etc. and (d) affective dispositions such as perseverance, internal motivation, self-efficacy, independence, flexibility, or coping with frustrating situations.

Assessments take more time to administer, often are tied directly to specific curriculum and instructional programs or particular assignments, and take more time for scoring, reporting back the results, and putting the results to effective use with students than do standardized tests (Reeves, 2007). According to Reeves (2007), the assessment challenge, at both the district and school levels, is to develop the capacity of classroom early childhood teachers to evaluate student work in shared and common ways, often using established rubrics or scoring criteria to evaluate student products and performances. The results are often complex and nuanced. The student's work on such tasks is typically neither right nor wrong, but rather, combines a variety of strengths and areas needing improvement. Such evaluations can inform summative judgments, but, most fruitfully, they provide formative instructional guidance,

challenging early childhood teachers to use the results to help students take the next steps towards excellence.

2.10 Assessments Tools

Assessments tools are tests or procedures (for example, ability test, structured interview, work sample) used to measure a student's qualifications and interests (U.S. Department of Labor,2000) The various techniques involved in assessment are the tools and instruments to collect the information about how the students can demonstrate desired learning outcomes (Prasanthi & Vijetha Inti , 2019).

There are various techniques of assessing students. The most common means by which early childhood teachers attempt to assess their students are tests and examinations (Tamakloe, Amedahe & Atta, 2005). These techniques include, but are not limited to paper and pencil test and performance task. Other means of assessing students are through the responses of students in class, homework performance, and observation of students, interviews/conference with students, students' presentations and portfolios.

Forms of Assessment

2.11 Formative Assessment

According to McTighe and O'connor (2009) formative assessment is generally carried out throughout a course or project and is also referred to as "educative assessment," as used to aid learning. In an educational setting, formative assessment might be a teacher or the learner, providing feedback on a student's work and would not necessarily be used for grading purposes. Formative assessments in education can be of many kinds and could espouse investigative test or diagnostic test, standardized

tests, quizzes, oral question, or draft work. Formative assessments are carried out concurrently with instructions. Formative assessments aim to see if the students understand the instruction before doing a summative assessment (McTighe & O'connor).

By definition, Airasian (1991) opinionated that formative assessments are interactive and are used primarily to form or modify an ongoing learning process or learning activity. Formative assessment is focused on improving student motivation and learning with the goal of producing higher-quality work or thinking. It is important to realise that there are two different spectators for formative assessment (Edmund, 2006). According to Edmund (2006), formative assessment concerns early childhood teachers and many of the early childhood teachers may check for student understanding by asking questions or by observing students as they discuss a topic in small groups. In formative assessment, early childhood teachers are informally "collecting data" that will help them determine what needs to happen next in instruction and early childhood teachers serve as the data users. Formative assessment also concerns students as they need to know what would move their responses to questions. Formative assessment is about providing immediate feedback to students concerning what has been learnt. It is believed that providing students with effective feedback can increase student achievement significantly (Marzano, Pickering, & Pollock, 2001).

According to Palomba and Banta (1999), formative assessment is often done at the beginning or during a programme, thus providing the opportunity for immediate evidence for student learning in a particular course or at a particular point in a

program. Formative assessment in the classroom is noted to be one of the most common assessment techniques that early childhood teachers use and purpose of the technique is to improve quality of student learning (Palomba & Banta, 1999). As an important component of teaching and learning, formative assessment in the classroom can lead to curricular amendments when specific courses have not met the student learning outcomes (Palomba & Banta). According to Angelo and Cross (1993), formative assessment in the classroom can also provide important programme information when multiple sections of any course is taught because it enables programmes to examine if the learning goals and objectives are met in all sections of the course. It also can improve instructional quality by engaging the faculty in the design and practice of the course goals and objectives and the course impact on the programme (Bardes & Denton, 2001).

Formative assessment in the classroom has been the focus of almost major stakeholders in an attempt to synthesize the research studies on classroom assessment. Synthesis of more than 250 studies concerning formative assessments as opposed to summative assessment conducted by Black and Wiliam (1998), revealed that formative assessment produces more powerful effect on student learning. In his review of the research, Crooks (2001) was of the view that effect sizes for summative assessments are consistently lower than effect sizes for formative assessments when it comes to assessment in the classroom. It can be said that classroom formative assessment data can contribute to a comprehensive assessment plan by enabling capacity to identify particular points in a programme to assess learning and monitor the progress being made towards achieving learning outcomes (Bardes & Denton, 2001).

In terms of merit, Sasser (2018) indicated that formative assessments are not graded and this takes the anxiety away from students. It also detaches the thinking that they must get everything right. Instead, they serve as a practice for students to get assistance along the way before the final tests. Early childhood teachers usually check for understanding in the event that students are struggling during the lesson. Early childhood teachers address these issues early on instead of waiting until the end of the unit to assess. Early childhood teachers have to do less re-teaching at the end because many of the problems with mastery are addressed before final tests (Sasser, 2018). According to Sasser (2018), the goal of formative assessment is to gauge student learning and adapt content accordingly. Since it is "low stakes," to Sasser, formative assessments should be used to monitor student learning qualitatively as opposed to examine it quantitatively (final exam). Therefore, when assessing for learning, formative assessment is the way to go; when assessing the measure of learning, summative assessment is best.

Reddy (2018) was of the view that formative assessment is necessary and important for behaviour change among learners. In order to face unexpected outcomes and respond to emergent properties, formative assessment is mandatory. Reddy (2018) outlined some merits of formative assessment:

The main intention of formative assessment is that it helps in the development of knowledge and skills for the learners. With this category of assessment, the instructors, leads or early childhood teachers are able to identify the needs of the individuals and direct them towards their objectives or educational goals. The individual's hindrances and difficulties are found out by this method and appropriate remedies are applied to overcome them. With assessment the upcoming lesson or task

is also planned. With formative assessment, an assessment is offered by the instructor or teacher to make sure that the individuals have mastered the concept that has been taught to them.

Formative assessment is beneficial as it plans for the future where any methods related to teaching or other career tasks can be altered. Weakness is diagnosed at an early stage and remediation is made. By this way the individuals are kept of track and move towards progress with continuous feedback. Future planning in case of any change in the methods of teaching or given task is planned well ahead, with formative assessment.

Formative assessment covers up a wide range of diagnostics that are required by the students or individuals. The feedback is a main parameter which enables students to reflect what they are learning and know the reason for the same. Formative assessment assists individuals enhancing their performance and producing successful outcomes.

Another beneficial aspect of formative assessment is that it is an ongoing process. By this way, the feedback is increased and issues are detected at an early stage. When academics are considered, conceptual errors are identified before they start with working with their term papers. Once students initiate with term paper they are guided and validated by their instructors with each step.

Formative assessment is noted to provide of the learning process. A rich picture of the source or programme is learned with the help of formative assessment as it unfolds. With this type of assessment, doors are opened for prospective learning for present program as well as future programs that are planned. The success and failure of the

project can be determined with the help of formative assessment and the reason for the same is also identified. The complex factors that are present within the program are also identified with this assessment.

Formative assessment helps provide feedback to learning process. Reflective practice is assisted with the help of formative assessment. Also, conflict management systems are strengthened in a number of ways. The major advantage is that, formative assessment feedback is offered based on the conflict management and resolution work capacity.

With the help of formative assessment, planning is made and also revisions for any recommendation for plans are allowed in the classroom situation. With this type of assessment in the classroom, program implementation and program plans are compared. There is also enhanced opportunity for reconsidering program plans and goals. When program plans are revised and presented through formative assessment, early childhood teachers who work with the program can revise plans or also stick to new or old plans that are appropriate to present reliabilities. Formative assessment also offers inputs for future project planning and ideas.

It is widely understood that problems emerge when formative assessment is being reduced to a mini-summative assessment or to a series of teaching techniques for coaching to improve grades and levels. On the one hand, a serious threat to the effectiveness of formative assessment occurs when it is assimilated into larger accountability systems such as National Curriculum Assessment (Shuichi, 2016).

To Sasser (2018) and Reddy (2018), in using formative assessment, some early childhood teachers may complain about sacrificing time to assess during the lesson

and fear that they may not even finish the lesson. Early childhood teachers then feel the need to rush through a series of units, which causes students to lack mastery once the assessment is given at the end of the unit. Early childhood teachers may lack training or professional development on how to use formative assessments successfully because, historically, assessments are completed at the end. Formative assessment may lack the same weight, low to no point value as a summative assessment and students may not take the assessments seriously, which may cause early childhood teachers to misread feedback from students. Reddy (2018) suggested limitations to the use of formative assessment.

Formative assessment is considered to be time consuming process if they are followed on a monthly, weekly or daily basis by early childhood teachers in the classroom. These assessments are time and resource intensive. This is because they are in need of frequent gathering of data, analysis, reporting as well as refinement of new implementation and how effective it should be, as such, early childhood teachers may find it difficult in practicing due to the time demands.

Planning and exercising formative assessment can be a tiring process for teacher who practices it. This disadvantage leads many individual early childhood teachers to avoid the practice of formative assessment.

In order to practice formative assessment, well qualified and trained individual early childhood teachers are required so that formative assessment is carried over successfully and ended. However, it is indicated that most early childhood teachers do not possess the required skills to assess their students formatively (Reddy, 2018). There are a number of methodological challenges faced by early childhood teachers

with formative assessment at times of rapid refinement process which takes place when trying to evaluate the impact of intervention.

2.12 Summative Assessment

According to Mctighe and O'Connor (2005), summative assessment is generally carried out at the end of a course or project. In an educational setting, summative assessments are typically used to assign students a course grade. Summative assessments are evaluative. Summative assessments are made to summarize what the students have learned, and to determine whether they understand the subject matter well. This type of assessment is typically graded and can take the form of tests, exams or projects. Summative assessments are often used to determine whether a student has passed or failed a class.

Summative assessment looks at whether a student has achieved the desired learning goals or met standards (Edmonds, 2006). In the classroom, summative assessments usually occur at the end of instruction and documents what students have learned. Looking at the grades in a teacher's grade book should give an idea of what the key instructional goals or outcomes were for a grading period. These grades most likely represent summative assessments (tests, quizzes, projects, reports, written assignments) that tell the teacher whether the student has mastered the skills or learned the content. A key aspect of summative assessment is determining the level to which students need to "master" the content and thinking. Tests that define "mastering" content at the level of memorizing events, names, and facts are less likely to be building students' thinking skills than tests that ask students to write about big conflicts or themes that recur over time.

According to Angelo and Cross (1993), summative assessment in the classroom is comprehensive in nature, provides accountability and is used to check the level of learning at the end of the programme. For instance, if upon completion of a programme students will have the knowledge to pass a certification test, taking the test would be summative in nature since it is based on the cumulative learning experience. Classroom summative assessment programme goals and objectives often reflect the collective nature of the learning that takes place in a programme (Palomba & Banta, 1999). It is noted that, in any educational programme, it is relevant to conduct summative assessment at the end of the programme to ensure students have met the programme goals and objectives. Bardes and Denton (2001) articulated that, attention should be given to using various methods and measures in order to have a comprehensive plan. Eventually, the foundation for an assessment plan is to collect summative assessment data and this type of data can stand-alone.

According to Reddy (2018), summative assessment is one that takes place at the end of the assessment cycle. It is a type of assessment that judges the worth of the task by the end of program activities. The main focus of summative assessment is based on the outcome. Summative assessments can also be mentioned as assessments technique that is used to measure the outcome of individuals or students. Similarly, in education, summative assessment is used to assess students on what they have learned. Reddy (2018) suggest the following merits of summative assessment:

Summative assessment follows certain strategies for assessment by means of assignments, tests, projects and more. By these ways, the teacher can make out if the students have learned and understood the subject. An assignment is said to be a summative one by the way it is utilized and not by the design of the test, assignment

or by self-assessment. By this way, the instructor can make out to what degree the students have understood with the materials that have been taught.

The usual procedure is that summative assessments are done at the end of any instructional period. Thus, summative assessment is considered to be evaluative in nature rather than being mentioned as diagnostic. They are also utilized to estimate the effectiveness of educational programs. Another key advantage is that they are utilized to measure improvement towards objectives and goals. More over course-placement decisions are also made with summative assessment.

The results of summative assessments are ones that are recorded as scores or grades into the students' academic records. They can be in the format of test scores, letter grades or report cards which can be used in college admission process. Many schools, districts, and courses consider summative assessment as a major parameter in the grading system.

The presence of summative assessment is a motivator as it assists the individuals and offers them an opportunity to develop a learning environment. This is an assessment meant for learning and is based on the outcome.

The outcome of the summative assessment is considered as an enhancing factor when it is positive. With this type of assessment, confidence is improved and also, it acts as a foundation for certain behaviour change at workplace or institution (Reddy, 2018).

With the help of summative assessment results, trainers and instructors can find out weak areas where the results are steadily low. By this way, alternative methods can be utilized in order to improve the results. New training can be followed for future events focusing towards success.

With the help of summative assessment, the supervisor can measure the educational faculty or the instructor. The level of performance of all the early childhood teachers, and instructors can be measured by means of this assessment. The school needs for teacher's accountability are met by means of summative assessment. The assessment is carried out with a form which has checklist and few occasional narratives.

Despite the value attached to summative assessment as a measure of end product, it is not devoid of lapses. A criticism of summative assessments is that they are reductive, and learners discover how well they have acquired knowledge too late for it to be of use (Mctighe & O'Connor, 2005). Reddy (2018) suggest the following limitations:

Summative assessment demotivates individuals such that when student motivation and its impact is reviewed, it indicates that there prevails a lower self-esteem by students who performed in a poor manner. This in turn, leads them to put in less effort towards their studies and for their future academic progress.

One main disadvantage of summative assessment is that since it focuses on output at the end. In case there are hindrances or difficulties, learning process at the end can be tough. There is no chance to recover as the results are at the end. This is not an accurate reflection when learning is considered. Nothing is done to identify hindrances or challenges well in advance in a summative assessment. Instructional issues are not identified until they blow up and become critical when summative assessment is used in schools.

Since summative assessment is a single test at the end of the complete session of academics, it makes almost all individuals anxious and disruptive. They face the summative assessment with nervousness and fear.

When summative assessment is considered, it focuses mainly on the performance of the early childhood teachers as they teach to the test. Overall, summative assessment is not perfect because even outstanding students may face questions that may bring them down. The main reason for that would be a student may become nervous or tensed due to pressure for exams. Hence, summative assessment is not considered as the best reflection for learning in schools.

Repeated practice test for low-achieving students lowers their self-confidence and self-esteem. The summative assessment results have a negative effect on low achievers when they are more pronounced for students than for schools or authorities. Secondary school low-achievers may perform in a worse manner as they are failing in the course of time. It is also considered as a limiting process for the able individuals. Anxiety is another reason which is caused in a test especially amongst girls and leads to expanding the gap between higher and low achieving individuals.

The instructors and early childhood teachers work towards the test and deviate themselves from curriculum and content. There can be chances for distortion in terms of teaching techniques. The other disadvantage is that summative assessment questions may not be framed in a manner similar to formative assessment. The instructors and early childhood teachers may themselves have to dedicate more time for summative assessment which may not actually enhance individual's knowledge. With all this, early childhood teachers also adopt some didactic teaching style which may not be perfect and comfortable for many students.

2.13 Performance-Based Assessment in School

Nitko (2004) defined performance-based assessments as tangible and reliable tasks that demand students to do something with their knowledge and skills, such as give a demonstration or presentation, or write a report on what they have been taught. According to Stecher (2010), assessment is a structured situation in which stimulus materials and a request for information or action are presented to an individual, who generates a response that can be rated for quality using explicit standards. The standards may apply to the final product or to the process of creating it.

Stecher (2010) indicated that the definition of assessment is poised with four (4) features that include structured, stimulus, response and standard. The structured situation in assessment is constrained with respect to time, space and access to materials. The structure makes it possible to replicate the conditions, so the same assessment can be administered to different people and their performances can be compared. The requirement that there be structure with respect to administrative conditions does not exclude from consideration complex, extended tasks, such as conducting a scientific experiment and reporting the results. Instead, structure insures that tasks can be replicated at different times and in different places. The stimulus material in the assessment serves as the basis for the response. The response expected from the stimulus in assessment must have directions indicating the nature of the desired response and the directions can be part of the stimulus materials. The standard in assessment must prompt responses that can be scored according to a clear set of standards and in most cases standards are developed before the assessment is given (Stecher, 2010).

The Wisconsin Education Association Council (1999) defined assessment as the one which requires students to demonstrate that they have mastered specific skills and competencies by performing or producing something. The Association indicated that assessment is about designing and carrying out experiments, writing essays which require students to rethink, to integrate, or to apply information, working with other students to accomplish tasks, demonstrating proficiency in using a piece of equipment or a technique, building models, developing, interpreting, and using maps, making collections; writing term papers, critiques, poems, or short stories, giving speeches, playing musical instruments, participating in oral examinations, and developing portfolios, developing athletic skills or routines.

According to the Office of Educational Research and Improvement (1993), like all types of performance-based assessments, the procedures require that students actively develop their approaches to the task under defined conditions, knowing that their work will be evaluated according to agreed-upon standards. This requirement distinguishes assessment from other forms of testing as they require students to actively demonstrate what they know and performance-based assessments may be a more valid indicator of students' knowledge and abilities.

2.14 Qualitative Assessment

This is concerned with the assessment of qualities that an individual possess. A student's view of what constitute a good relationship with a patient is a qualitative data (Quinn, 2000). A common misconception is that qualitative assessments are not as reliable, valid, or objective as quantitative ones. This is not necessarily the case. There are well-designed and statistically reliable means of interpreting and analysing qualitative data and numerous resources for learning to use qualitative methods

(Silverman, 2001; Maxwell, 1996). For example, an instructor might assess the same learning goals using a multiple-choice test or an essay test.

Similarly, a instructor might grade a senior project presentation quantitatively with a standard set of evaluation criteria (i.e., a rubric). Alternatively, he or she might provide the student with a prose evaluation, in a non-scaled format, citing the strengths and weaknesses of the presentation. However, it is best if this evaluation is organized around standard set of criteria that were shared with the student beforehand. A student survey designed to gather information on student satisfaction may elicit data that are quantitative (i.e., "On a scale of 1 to 7, how satisfied are you with the quality of advising?") or qualitative ("How would you describe your experience with academic advising?"). Qualitative data must be sorted, categorised, and interpreted (most often by humans rather than by computer programs) before a final judgment can occur.

Methods of ensuring the reliability of qualitative data are time-consuming. For instance, to ensure that portfolio assessment is reliable; at least two raters are used to review each portfolio, providing a form of "inter-rater" reliability. Focus groups, another commonly used form of qualitative data collection, require large investments of time to gather data from comparatively few students. A good use of qualitative evaluation is to help develop quantitative evaluation criteria (rubrics).For instance, one might conduct focus groups for designing questions for a satisfaction questionnaire or use a scoring rubric for portfolios to determine what characteristics of students' writing might be evaluated.

2.15 Aptitude Assessment

Aptitude is how well a student will perform in the future. According to Elliot, Kratochwill, Cook and Travers (2000), an aptitude test is a test that predicts a student's performance in a certain task by sampling the cumulative effect on the individual on many experiences. They are used to predict what students can learn. They are used to measure performance based on learning abilities.

2.16 Paper and Pencil Test

This is often the first choice used for formal assessment because of its practicality (Ormrod, 2008). The assessment requires students to write independently or to demonstrate understanding of concepts. A teacher gives seatwork as well as homework to students for them to respond in writing. These help the students to practice the learning target.

2.17 Portfolios

Another alternative assessment tool that has attracted widespread popular attention is portfolios. Portfolios are collections of student work gathered over time. The contents of portfolios can range from comprehensive coverage containing materials that are quite selective, containing only a limited number of student-selected items. Student portfolios offer a range of flexibility that makes the method attractive to a wide range of teachers and programs. Portfolio assessment offers many advantages, but Frazier and Paulson (1992) note that the primary value of portfolios is that they allow student the opportunity to evaluate their own work. Further, portfolio assessment offers students a way to take charge of their learning; it also encourages ownership, pride, and high self esteem.
2,18 Learning Logs and Journals

Learning logs and journals are tools designed to cause students to reflect on what they have learned or are learning. When used properly, they encourage student self assessment and provide a mechanism for making connections across the various subject matter areas. Herman, Aschbacher, and Winters (1992) indicated that the fundamental purpose of learning logs and journals is to "allow students to communicate directly with the teacher regarding individual progress, particular concerns, and reflections on the learning process" (p. 2).

A distinction can be made between learning logs and journals. Learning logs usually consist of short, objective entries under specific heading such as problem solving, observations, questions about content, lists of outside readings, homework assignments, or other categories designed to facilitate recordkeeping (Burke 1994). Student responses are typically brief, factual, and impersonal.

On the contrary, journals typically include more extensive information and are usually written in narrative form. They are more subjective and focus more on feelings, reflections, opinions, and personal experiences. Journal entries are more descriptive, more spontaneous, and longer than logs. They are often used to respond to situations, describe events, reflect on personal experiences and feelings, connect what is being learned with past learning, and predict how what is being learned can be used in real life (Burke 1994).

2.19 Projects

Many different types of projects can be developed to challenge students to produce something rather than reproduce knowledge on traditional tests. Projects allow students to demonstrate a variety of skills including communication, technical, interpersonal, organizational, problem-solving, and decision making skills (Burke 1994). Projects also provide students with opportunities to establish criteria for determining the quality of the planning and design processes, the construction process, and the quality of the completed project.

2.20 Rubrics

Among the most common methods for student self-assessment are scoring rubrics. Marzano, Pickering, and McTighe (1993) have defined rubrics as "a fixed scale and list of characteristics describing performance for each of the points on the scale" (p. 10). Rubrics are scoring devices (or tools) that are designed to clarify, communicate, and assess performance. They are grading tools containing specific information about what is expected of students based on criteria that are often complex and subjective.

Rubrics typically contain two important features; they identify and clarify specific performance expectations and criteria, and they specify the various levels of student performance. In their simplest form, rubrics are checklists requiring a "yes" or "no" response.

2.21 Graphic Organizers and Concept Mapping

Graphic organizers are visual representations of mental maps using important skills such as sequencing, comparing, contrasting, and classifying. They involve students in active thinking about relationships and associations and help students make their thinking visible. Many students have trouble connecting or relating new information to prior knowledge because they cannot remember things (Burke 1994).

Teachers can help students use graphic organizers by modeling and using topics that can be easily understood. Students can develop skills in developing graphic organizers

if they are allowed to work first in small groups and can select a topic of their choice related to the lesson content.

Although graphic organizers are learning tools, they can also effectively be used as authentic assessment tools. This provides students with a creative and engaging way of expressing what they know and are able to do.



CHAPTER THREE

METHODOLOGY

3.0 Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to discuss the requirements of the methodology, imposed by the research questions and the theoretical framework, and the reasoned selection of appropriate methods. Specifically, it will describe the research design, population, the sample and sampling procedures, the research instruments, data collection procedures and the methods employed in analysing the data.

3.1 Research Design

The Descriptive survey study was employed in this study. As descriptive method tends to `` look at individuals, groups, institutions, methods and materials in order to describe, compare, contrast, classify, analyse and interpret the entities and the events that constitute their various fields of inquiry"(Cohen, Manion, and Morrison, 2000). According to Phillips and Burbules, the use of a quantitative approach such as surveys "does not attempt to describe the total reality about, say a classroom; rather, it seeks to develop relevant true statements" (2000, p.38).

Research design is the overall plan employed by the researcher to obtain answers to the research questions and for testing the hypothesis formulated (Agyedu et al, 2007). It should comprise "a flexible set of guidelines that connect theoretical paradigms; first, to strategies of inquiry followed by methods of collecting empirical material." (Denzin and Lincoln, 2000). It encompasses decisions about how the research is conceptualized, the conduct of the research and the type of contribution the research is intended to make to the development of knowledge in a particular field of study (Cheek, 2008). Additionally, in developing a research design, theoretical,

methodological and ethical considerations relevant to the study are taken (Cheek, 2008).

Osuala (2001) noted that: "descriptive surveys are versatile and practical, especially to the researcher in that they identify present needs" (p. 35). Descriptive research involves collecting data in order to answer questions concerning the current status of the subjects of the study. It determines and reports the way things are (Gay, 1992).

Surveys gather data at a particular point in time with the intention of describing the nature of existing conditions, or identifying standards against which existing conditions can be compared, or determining the relationships that exist between specific events (Cohen, Manion, and Morrison, 2000). Frankel and Wallen (1993) maintained that "obtaining answers from a large group of people to a set of carefully designed and administered question, lies at the heart of survey research" (p. 17). The aim of descriptive study is to describe, observe and document aspects of a situation as it naturally occurs rather than explaining them (Polit and Hungler, 1995). It provides a more convincing accurate picture of events whilst seeking to explain people's perception and behaviour on the basis of data gathered at a point. It is appropriate when a researcher attempts to describe some aspect of a population by selecting unbiased samples who are asked to complete questionnaires (Frankel & Wallen, 1993).

The descriptive design was seen appropriate for this study because it tend to lead the researcher to draw meaningful conclusions from the study. Babbie (1990) noted that it helps to generalize from a sample to a population so that inferences can be made about some characteristic, attitude, or behavior of this population. Hence, other research designs were seen inappropriate.

Youngman (1984) states that the prime source of surveys "must be the working hypotheses and the literature survey" and this is the source employed in the development of the survey for this research.

3.2 Population

Nitko (2004) defined a population as the entire aggregation of cases that meet a designated set of criteria. The population for the study included all 1,139 teachers from 158 public early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis. However,120 teachers were drawn from 22 public inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis.

3.3 Sample and Sampling Procedure

There are 158 public early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis. There are 1,139 teachers: of which 568 are trained (thus have earned at least diploma in the teaching profession) whilst the other 571 are untrained (have earned senior high school certificate).

A sample size, according to Cohen, Manion and Morrison (2007) can be determined in two ways, either by the researcher exercising prudence and ensuring that the sample represents the wider features of the population or by using a table which forms a mathematical formula. The researcher adopted the former.

A sample size of 120 teachers was involved in the study from a total number of 22 public inclusive kindergartens. In all 158 public kindergartens in the Kumasi metropolis, only 22 of these schools (**APPENDIX D**) include children with intellectual disabilities in their early childhood level, thus from kindergarten to primary three. In other words, teachers have already taught children with intellectual

disabilities or have one way or the other had an engagement with them. An introduction letter from the Kumasi Metro. education office to all heads and circuit supervisors of participating schools was obtained and attached to this letter was the list of these twenty two (22) public inclusive schools.

Purposive Sampling techniques (Bryman, 2016; Cresswell, 2013; Marshall & Rossman, 2011, Patton, 2015; Teddlie & Tashakkori, 2009), also called Pragmatic sampling (Emmel, 2013) was appropriately utilised in this study for selecting schools and participants who could inform the assessment practices on children with intellectual disabilities. Denscombe (2003) states that the reason for employing purposive sampling is "the researcher already knows something about specific people or events and deliberately selects particular ones because they are seen as instances that are likely to produce the most valuable data" (p.15). The idea for purposive sampling is to sample participants in a deliberate manner in that the sampled participants are relevant to the study (Bryman, 2012). Purposive sampling technique is a non-probability technique used when the researcher builds up a sample likely to satisfy certain specific needs (Cohen et al., 2007). The researcher employed the Purposive Sampling at two levels: firstly, the selection of all the twenty two (22) public inclusive schools in the region per the researcher's judgment of how useful they would be for the study; secondly, the selection of teachers from kindergarten one (1) & two (2) and primary one to three as these are the Early Childhood classes. A case was also made for Early childhood centres that had more than two kindergarten teachers.

Borg and Gall (1979) suggest that, sample sizes should be large where: only small differences or small relationships are expected or predicted and the sample is

heterogeneous in terms of the variables under study. Effective sampling therefore gives room to generalization of the findings to the targeted population making the research very practical and economical to conduct yielding more comprehensive information.

3.4 The Research Instrument

A self-designed questionnaire was used for the study. A questionnaire was used for the study because it offered the researcher the opportunity to sample the perceptions of a larger population. It also provided large amounts of data, at relatively low cost, in a short period of time. Participants were assured of anonymity and so they were more truthful in responding to the questions than they will be for instance, a personal interview, particularly when it involved sensitive or controversial issues.

Questionnaires are used to collect structured survey information, largely using closed questioning to obtain easily classifiable data about the sample. Care was therefore taken to ensure that the questions were clear and unambiguous and easy for the teachers to understand and respond accurately. Kerlinger (1973) stated that the questionnaire is widely used for collecting data in educational research because it is effective for securing factual information about practices and conditions and for enquiring into the opinions and attitudes of subjects. This will be carried out by running a survey questionnaire which endeavours to obtain some facts and opinions from respondents" practical points of view regarding teachers' assessment practices. Denscombe (2003) states that information from a questionnaire in general tends to fall into two "broad categories -,,facts" and ,,opinions"" (p.146). Besides the easiness of coding data statistically, a questionnaire "tends to be more reliable because it is anonymous, it encourages greater honesty, it is economical in terms of time and

money, and there is the possibility that it may be mailed" (Cohen et al., 2000). The questionnaires were designed based on Cohen, Manion, and Morrison (2013).

- 1. Decide the purposes/objectives of the questionnaire.
- 2. Decide the population and the sample (as questions about their characteristics will need to be included on the questionnaire under 'personal details').
- 3. Generate the topics/constructs/concepts/issues to be addressed and data required in order to meet the objectives of the research (this can be done from literature, or a pre-pilot, for example, focus groups and semi structured interviews).
- 4. Decide on the kinds of measures/scales/questions/responses required.
- 5. Write the questionnaire items.
- 6. Check that each issue from (3) has been addressed, using several items for each issue.
- 7. Pilot the questionnaire and refine items as a consequence.
- 8. Administer the final questionnaire (Cohen et al., 2013, p. 379)

The questionnaire was in five sections. Section A was on personal data of respondents such as age, gender, educational background and years of experience section B was on the views of teachers regarding various assessment practices they employ in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms section C was on the level of teacher knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive early childhood centres section D was on the problems faced by early childhood teachers in administering assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities in public early childhood centres section E considered the assessment tools teachers employ in supporting the learning need of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive early childhood centres.

To evaluate teachers' assessment practices on children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive public early childhood centres, the respondents were given a four point Likert scale questionnaire to respond to. The scoring was based on the four points Likert scale of measurement of Strongly Agree (SA), Agree (A), Disagree (D) and Strongly Disagree (SD). The options of the items were weighted in the Likert format with SA=4, A=3, D=2 and SD=1.

Likert scale was considered by the researcher because it has the added advantage of being relatively easy to develop. It also builds in a degree of sensitivity and differentiation of response while still generating numbers. Though Likert scales are powerful and useful in research, the researcher is not unmindful of its limitations. For instance, there is no assumption of equal intervals between the categories, hence a rating of four indicates neither that it is twice as powerful as two nor that it is twice as strongly felt. Also the researcher cannot check on whether the respondents are telling the truth since some respondents may be deliberately falsifying their replies. Also in using a Likert scale, the researcher has no way of knowing if the respondents might have wished to add any other comments about the issue under investigation.

3.5 Validity and Reliability of the Instrument

According to Fielding and Gilbert (2000), validity is the extent to which an indicator accurately measures a concept. The focus of validity is not on the instrument itself but on the interpretation and meaning of the scores derived from the instrument (Ary, Jacobs & Razavieh, 2002). That is, an indicator of some abstract concept is valid to the extent that it measures what it is purported to measure. O'leary (2004) described reliability as related to internal consistency. Internal consistency meant that data collected, measured or generated remained the same under expect trials. It was therefore necessary to ensure that research instruments were reliable in case the research method was repeated elsewhere in different samples. Therefore, reliability was ensured through expect judgment and pre-testing.

According to Wallen and Fraenkel (1991), the content validity and face validity of research instrument must be determined by expert judgment. Therefore, to ascertain the content validity and reliability, the items constructed in the questionnaires were shown to senior members in the Department of Early childhood Education, University of Education, including the supervisors. This was to examine: (a) whether they were related to the research questions; (b) whether they elicit the appropriate responses from the respondents; (c) whether the vocabulary structure were appropriate; (d) whether the items were properly arranged; (e) if items fitted into sections they had been placed in; and (g) whether any of the items were ambiguous and misleading. The suggestions they gave were used to improve the instrument and thereby helped to establish the face and content validity.

3.6 Pilot-Testing

The purpose of the piloting was to increase the validity and reliability of the questionnaire (Oppenheim, 1992; Morrison,1993). Cohen, Manion and Morrison (2007) elaborated that piloting involves checking for clarity of items, instructions and layout as well as to gain feedback on the questionnaire. In addition, piloting fosters the elimination of ambiguities or difficulties in wording.

The questionnaire was pre-tested in four public inclusive early childhood centres namely, Pankrono M/A primary, Santasi M/A basic, Old Tafo Methodist B and State basic 1, after series of discussions with my supervisor and other lecturers who are experts in developing research instruments. The sample for the pre-testing was 20 teachers, comprising 5 teachers from each school. The pilot study was necessary as it helped determine whether questionnaires would be understood by the sample to be surveyed or not. An introductory letter explaining the purpose of the study, soliciting co-operation of respondents and assuring them of confidentiality of information was sent to the head of teachers, circuit supervisors and head of kindergarten units for their consent and permission.

3.7 Data Collection Procedure

The researcher considered it pertinent to seek the permissions of the school for the study. To this effect, the researcher applied for introductory letters from the Early childhood department to the Kumasi Metro Education office. The researcher was asked to return a week later for emborsed letters to heads of participating schools, circuit supervisors and heads of kindergarten units, various heads to seek the permission of the headmaster and his assistant of the school for the data collection. The questionnaire was self-administered at the selected school for the study. Items in the questionnaire was clearly explained to the respondents before they were be made to provide any necessary responses to the items. This ensured consistency and appropriateness of responses of the pre-school teachers. Questionnaires were not retrieved the same day they were dispatched as some teachers were occupied as at when the items were distributed.

3.8 Data Analysis

The information that was gathered from the study using the questionnaires was checked for accuracy, clarity of expression, and completeness. The researcher saw to it that answers to questions are complete and expressions are found to be meaningful and understandable. The responses to the questionnaires was organised and analysed with respect to the research questions on which the instruments were design for the study using bar charts frequency tables and means and standard deviations. In essence, the questionnaires that was retrieved was serially numbered, coded and scored. The Statistical Product for Service Solutions (SPSS version 21.0) was used to facilitate data analysation. Ary and Jacobs (1976) noted that researchers use descriptive statistics to organize, summarize, interpret and communicate information obtained. Specific questions were formulated to allow for the investigation of the research problem. Tables were constructed to represent the four likert type scaled response subgroups of "strongly agree", "agree", "disagree", and "strongly disagree" for analysis and discussion.

3.9 Ethical Considerations

Access and approval was gained from the Department of Early Childhood (Appendix B) and the Ghana Education Service (Kumasi Metro, Appendix C) before data was gathered both in the pilot and main studies for the purposively selected research sites and participants in the Kumasi Metropolitan Education unit (Bryman, 2016; Cresswell, 2013; Yin, 2011). The whole process of inquiry was guided by ethics, and therefore did not interfere with the rights of participants (Bryman, 2016; Hesse-Bieber & Leavy, 2011).

An introductory letter was obtained from Kumasi Metropolitan Education unit to assist the researcher in having access to the subjects for data collection. The research involved participants directly, largely through uncontroversial and non-sensitive topic. The researcher collected data with the help of a questionnaire.

Another important consideration was the confidentiality of participant information. Although the questionnaires were anonymous, personal information was collected regarding age, gender and other demographic data to understand if these are influencing factors on teacher's assessment practices for children with intellectual disabilities in the Kumasi Metropolis. The questionnaires were collected a week after distribution, whiles others were taken on different days as some teachers were occupied on the days of distribution.

Another important aspect that cannot be overlooked in the ethics of data consideration is Informed consent. The researcher met the participants and explained to them the need to participate in this research. They also had the option to opt out of the research without any fear of intimidation from either the researcher or the headmaster/mistress or the circuit supervisor. Hence, the participants voluntarily gave their consent to participate.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.0 Introduction

This chapter presents the results of the analysis of the questionnaire data based on the purpose of the study. The purpose of the study was to explore the various assessment practices early childhood teachers employ in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms in selected early childhood centers within the Kumasi metropolis. The analysis and interpretation of data were carried out based on the results of the four (4) research questions set for the study. The analysis was based on the 95% return rate data obtained from 120 public inclusive early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis. The quantitative data were analyzed using descriptive statistics (mean statistic -MS, standard deviations-SD, frequencies-F, and percentages-P). The first part of this chapter describes the demographic characteristics of the 120 public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis. In the second part, the research findings are presented based on the research questions formulated for the study.

4.1 Description of Respondents

This section on the questionnaire (Biographical) discusses the background information of the respondents. These include the respondents' gender, age, and department of lecturing. Table 1 shows the distribution of the respondents their biographical information.

Variables	Subscale	Freq.	Percent
			%
Gender	Male	43	35.8
	Female	77	64.2
Educational level	SHS	09	7.50
	Dip	86	71.6
	B.Ed	16	13.3
	M.Ed	02	1.66
	MA	01	0.83
	MSC	00	00.0
	M. Phil	06	5.00
Number of years of teaching	0-5	29	24.2
	6-10	84	70.0
	11-15	06	5.00
	16-20+	01	0.83
Teachers encounter children with	Yes	106	88.3
intellectual disabilities			
	No	14	11.6
Source: Field Data, (2019)		n=	120

Table 1: Demographic Characteristics of the Respondents

As presented in Table 1, the results show that majority of the teachers were females (n=77, 64.2%). The males' public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis were the least (n=43, 35.8%). On the basis of educational level, most of the public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis teach with diploma degree (n=86, 71.6%).

In relation to the number of years of teaching, the results suggested that most of them had taught for 6-10 years (n=84, 70.0%). One had taught for 16 - 20+ (n=01, 0.83%). The results further confirmed that most of the teachers have had an encounter with children with intellectual disabilities (n=106, 88.3%).

How the Descriptive Results addressed the Research Questions (RQ1-RQ4)

To gather evidence for the study, the selected 120 public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis were made to rate their responses using Strongly Agree, Agree, Disagree and Strongly Disagrees. Using means, the scales were scored as (Strongly Agree =4, Agree =3, Disagree = 2 and Strongly Disagree =1). The criterion score of 2.50 was established for the scales. To obtain the criterion score (CS=2.50), the scores were added together and divided by the number scales (that is.....4+3+2+1= 10/4 = 2.50). То understand the mean scores, **positive** items/statements on assessment practices of public kindergartens teachers in the Kumasi metropolis that scored a mean of 0.00 to 2.49 were regarded as low practice. Those items/statements that scored a mean from 2.50 to 4.00 regarded as high assessment practices. These analysis were done with the use of means, standard deviations and Kurtosis. These analysis and interpretation were applicable to all the research questions.

Research Question One: What are the views of teachers regarding assessment practices for children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms in the Kumasi metropolis?

Reading previous works, pieces of evidence suggest that public early childhood teachers could have some view about assessment practices and how they employ it in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms. This made the researcher ascertain how inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis viewed assessment practices and how they employ it in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive for the study are presented in Table 2.

Table 2: Views of Public early Childhood Teachers on Assessment Practices in the

Kumasi Metropolis.

Statements	MS	SD Std. Erro	Kurtosis Statistic r	MR	
	Criterion Score =2.50				
I have adequate knowledge of testing and measurement for pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.88	.724	.101	lst	
I view classroom assessment as an added requirement to my teaching profession	3.78	.687	.588	2rd	
I am interested in assessing students' mastery or achievement and that performance assessment is used frequently	3.48	.631	.688	3rd	
I have diverse assessment and grading practices for pupils with intellectual disabilities in the inclusive classrooms	3.17	.531	.620	4th	
Assessment is a tool to improve effective teaching and learning in the inclusive classroom	3.14	.506	.189	5th	
I do not follow many assessment practices recommended	1.74	.649	.147	6 th	
Source: Field Data (2019)		(RS=	120)		
<i>Key: M</i> = <i>Mean, SD</i> = <i>Standard Deviation,</i>	MR =	Means	Ranking, RS=	=Retrieved	

Sample

Table 2 presents results on public early childhood teachers and their view about assessment practices and how they employ it in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms. Starting with the Kurtosis values, the results show

that the variables follow a normal distribution. This is based on the reason that the kurtosis values were within the acceptable limit for normal distribution of ± 2 (George & Mallery, 2011). This indicates that the data was normal and as such the descriptive statistics were deemed appropriate for the analysis.

From the descriptive analysis, the results indicate that, generally, most inclusive public early teachers in the Kumasi metropolis have a positive view about assessment practices and confirm to employ it in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms.

For example, most of the inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis indicated that they have adequate knowledge of testing and measurement for pupils with intellectual disabilities (M=3.88>CS (2.50), SD=.724, K=.101, n=120) and this explains that most of the teachers have a positive view about assessment practices by having adequate knowledge of testing and measurement for pupils with intellectual disabilities.

In another results, most of the public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis pointed out they view classroom assessment as an added requirement to their teaching profession (M=3.78 > CS (2.50), SD=.687, K=.588, n=120) and this could elucidate that majority of the public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis see classroom assessment as an added requirement to their teaching profession and this could influence how they assess children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms.

The teachers were again of the view that they have diverse assessment and grading practices for pupils with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms (M=3.17 > CS

(2.50), SD=.531, K=.620, n=120). It was again found that most teachers view assessment as a tool to improve effective teaching and learning in the inclusive classroom and this could have an impact on how they assess children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms (M=3.14 > CS (2.50), SD=.506, K=.189, n=120).

Lastly, it was found that few of the Inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis do follow many assessment practices recommended in assessing intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms (M=1.74 > CS (2.50), SD=.649, K=.147, n=120).

The results lend ample support to the work of Dean (1999), who asserted that most teacher education programs skim over classroom assessment, leaving early childhood teachers to assess in the way they were assessed when they were in school. Campbell and Evans (2000) evaluated pre-service teacher who had completed course work in educational measurement and found that early childhood teachers did not follow many assessment practices recommended. The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics, NCTM, (2000) held that assessment has the potential to enhance mathematics learning and to promote students' interest in mathematics.

Similarly, McMillan, Myran, and Workman (2002) in their study, aimed at describing the nature of classroom assessment and grading practices, found that early childhood teachers were most interested in assessing students' mastery or achievement and that performance assessment was used frequently. Morgan and Watson (2002) reported that most middle and high school teachers use teacher-constructed tests to assess students' achievement. In addition, Morgan and Watson found that most early childhood teachers view classroom assessment as an added requirement to their teaching job and not as a tool to improve their teaching.

Cooney (1992) reported a strong link between assessment and grading in the minds of high school early childhood teachers. That the latter is the product of the former. A study conducted by Gurski (2008) in Canada, examined secondary classroom early childhood teachers' assessment and grading practices in one urban school division. It compared the assessment practices of ten elementary early childhood teachers over a period of 11 weeks with Ohio's fourth and sixth-grade science Proficiency Tests. Evidence from the survey demonstrated that early childhood teachers in inclusive schools have diverse assessment and grading practices and that they have begun to explore the potential for assessment to assist all students in their learning

In another study, by Chapman (2011) in New Zealand, on the assessment practices of early childhood teachers in New Zealand outdoor education tertiary programs, it was found that early childhood teachers were generally highly skilled outdoor education practitioners; however, there were indications that there were gaps of understanding of theoretical assessment concepts. Early childhood teachers seemed to find summative assessment challenging but they routinely used formative assessment to promote learning and worked hard at providing quality opportunities for learning.

From the discussions above, the problem with early childhood teachers in inclusive classrooms has neither been the availability of a clear roadmap as to how to assess children with intellectual disability nor the lack of knowledge to effectively assess these children, but the will to put into action what has been learned in their colleges and universities. Though some tend to be selective with what they are capable enough of using, this however does not augur well for effective teaching and learning as a good assessment must be wholistic in nature and should not only take one form.

Again, many early childhood teachers in inclusive classrooms will trade *product* for *process*. Though the reverse will seek to serve the child well. Teachers are only interested in the performance of these young ones not paying much attention to the little progress chopped every day. The situation worsens when the results from these assessment are used for grading. Wherever there is grading, there is competition: wherever there is competition there is no serene atmosphere to bring out the best from the child with intellectual disability.

Research Question Two: What is the level of teacher knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis?

It must be established that any teacher teaching in public early childhood teachers could have some education in assessment practices in inclusive education. This motivated the researcher to find out the level of teacher knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis. The accumulated results are presented in Table 3.

Statements	MS	SD Std.	Kurtosis Statistic	MR
	Crite			
I am knowledgeable in the content area I teach, as I am able to set and apply learning intentions consistent with content and depth of the curriculum goals.	3.97	.671	.698	1st
My involvement in the design, use, and scoring of performance-based assessments has the potential to powerfully link instruction, assessment, pupils` learning, and teacher professional development.	3.86	.347	.588	2nd
I can use Assessment need to develop valid grading procedures for pupils with intellectual disabilities in the inclusive classroom.	3.84	.687	.138	3rd
I am skillful in analyzing assessment type methods, and skillful in providing meaningful feedback on pupils works in the inclusive classroom.	3.81	.565	.620	4th
I am aware that effective assessment depends on teachers' knowledge due to the continual interaction between teachers and pupils	3.77	.454	.101	5th
I am capable of choosing and developing methods appropriate for assessment practices suitable for pupils with intellectual disabilities in the inclusive classroom	3.69	.714	.171	6th
I understand the purposes of the assessment type, and am able to apply it	3.67	.501	.151	7th
I possess the strategies for communicating the expectations of the learning intentions to pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.59	.649	.147	8th
I am able to apply educational decisions made out from classroom assessments for pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.54	.449	.147	9 th
I am capable of administering, scoring and interpreting assessment results for educational decisions	3.48	.671	.688	10th
I am able to communicate assessment information to pupils to motivate them to learn and understand the legal and ethical issues in the classroom assessment practices	3.44	.506	.189	11th

Table 3: Level of Teacher Knowledge about Assessment Practices in InclusiveEducation

I have the ability to develop scoring schemes to quantify pupils performance for making informed educational decisions, and skillful in administering external assessments and interpreting their results	3.24	.206	.123	12th
Mean of means/Std.D	3.66	.532	.313	
Source: Field Data (2019)	(RS=120)			

Key: M= *Mean, SD* =*Standard Deviation, MR*=*Means Ranking RS*=*Retrieved Sample*

Table 3 depicts the results on the level of teacher knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive education. Reporting on the Kurtosis values, the results show that the variables follow a normal distribution. This is based on the reason that the kurtosis values were within the acceptable limit for normal distribution of ± 2 as suggested by George and Mallery (2011). This indicates that the data was normal and as such the descriptive statistics were deemed suitable for the analysis.

Observing the descriptive analysis (Ms and SDs), the results give ample indication to settle that largely, most public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis have knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive education. This was evident after most of the items scored a mean greater than then Criterion Score (>CS).

Dwelling on the individual items, most of the public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis indicated that they are knowledgeable in the content area they teach, as they are able to set and apply learning intentions consistent with content and depth of the curriculum goals (M=3.97>CS (2.50), SD=.671, K=.698, n=120).

The majority further asserted that their involvement in the design, use, and scoring of performance-based assessments has the potential to powerfully link instruction, assessment, pupils' learning, and teacher professional development (M=3.86>CS

(2.50), SD=.347, K=.588, n=120). This explains why most of them have knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive education.

In another evidence, it was found that most of the Inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis can use assessment need to develop valid grading procedures for pupils with intellectual disabilities in the inclusive classroom (M=3.84>CS (2.50), SD=.687, K=.138, n=120). This elucidates why most of them have knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive education.

The results further show that majority of the Inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis are skillful in analyzing assessment type methods, and skillful in providing meaningful feedback on pupils' work in the inclusive classroom (M=3.81>CS (2.50), SD=.565, K=.620, n=120). This explicates why most of them have knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive education.

The teachers further confirmed that they are aware that effective assessment depends on teachers' knowledge due to the continual interaction between teachers and pupils (M=3.77>CS (2.50), SD=.454, K=.101, n=120). Others were of the view that they are capable of choosing and developing methods appropriate for assessment practices suitable for pupils with intellectual disabilities in the inclusive classroom (M=3.69>CS (2.50), SD=.714, K=.171, n=120).

The majority of the Inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis indicated they understand the purposes of the assessment type and are able to apply it (M=3.67>CS (2.50), SD=.501, K=.151, n=120). Others were of the view that they possess the strategies for communicating the expectations of the learning

intentions to pupils with intellectual disabilities (M=3.59>CS (2.50), SD=.649, K=.147, n=120).

The results support the ideas of Brookhart (2011) who proposed assessment knowledge and skills for teachers by emphasizing that, teachers need to understand learning in the content area they teach, be able to set and apply learning intentions consistent with content and depth of the curriculum goals, and possess the strategies for communicating the expectations of the learning intentions to students.

Similarly, Brookhart (2011), pointed out that teachers need to also understand the purposes of the assessment type, and be able to apply it, be skillful in analyzing assessment type methods, be skillful in providing meaningful feedback on student work. Again, teachers need to have the ability to develop scoring schemes to quantify student performance for making informed educational decisions, be skillful in administering external assessments and interpreting their results. Furthermore, teachers need to be able to apply educational decisions made out from classroom assessments, be able to communicate assessment information to students to motivate them to learn, and understand the legal and ethical issues in the classroom assessment practices.

Recognizing the need for teachers to possess adequate knowledge in educational assessment, Plake and Impara (1992) developed an instrument titled the "Teacher Assessment Literacy Questionnaire (TALQ)" consisting of 35 items to measure teachers' assessment literacy. The TALQ was based on the Standards for Teacher Competence in Educational Assessment of Students (AFT, NCME, & NEA, 1990).

In his discussion of the assessment knowledge, Popham (2006) asserted the need for a continuous in-service assessment training aligned with the assessment realities. In a survey of assessment knowledge of purposively sampled 69 teacher candidates in Bangladesh by adapting Teacher Assessment Knowledge Questionnaire, Volante and Fazio (2007) found that the self-described levels of assessment knowledge remained relatively low for the candidates across the four years of the teacher education program.

From the foregone discussions, for a teacher to have adequate knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive classroom, he/she must possess some qualities and capabilities, as spelt out by Brookhart (2011). Among these qualities; teachers need to understand learning in the content area they teach, be able to set and apply learning intentions consistent with content and depth of the curriculum goals, and possess the strategies for communicating the expectations of the learning intentions to students. Evidence from the table shows that teachers in Inclusive public kindergartens in the Kumasi Metropolis possessed these qualities.

The capabilities on the other hand include; understanding the purposes of the assessment type, and being able to apply it, being skillful in analyzing assessment type methods, being skillful in providing meaningful feedback on student work. Besides, teachers need to have the ability to develop scoring schemes to quantify student performance for making informed educational decisions, be skillful in administering external assessments and interpreting their results. Furthermore, teachers need to be able to apply educational decisions made out from classroom assessments, be able to communicate assessment information to students to motivate them to learn, and understand the legal and ethical issues in the classroom assessment

practices. Evidences from the table show that teachers from the inclusive public kindergartens in the Kumasi metropolis fell short of these capabilities as many of them were not able in applying educational decisions made out from classroom assessments for pupils with intellectual disabilities. Also, not capable of administering, scoring and interpreting assessment results for educational decisions and unable to communicate assessment information to pupils to motivate them to learn and understand the legal and ethical issues in the classroom assessment practices. Lastly, teachers inability to develop scoring schemes to quantify pupils performance for making informed educational decisions, and skillful in administering external assessments and interpreting their results.

Research Question Three: What are the problems faced by early childhood teachers in administering assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities in public early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis?

Literature gives evidence to believe that pre-school teachers may face some problems in administering assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities. This gave the researcher the urge to assess these challenges in the case of inclusive public early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis. The gathered results from the teachers are presented in Table 4.

Table 4: Problems Faced by early Childhood Teachers in Administering

Statements	MS	SD Std. E	Kurtosis Statistic	MR	
	Criterion Score =2.50				
I am faced with limited materials/resources to conduct the assessment in schools	3.87	.714	.432	1st	
I am not confident enough to try out authentic assessments like portfolios, learning logs, journals, projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics due to inadequate professional guidance	3.84	.575	.620	2nd	
I am faced with limited time to create/develop authentic assessment tools like portfolios, learning, logs, journals, projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics	3.70	.832	.431	3rd	
Assessments take more time to administer, score and report back the results.	3.62	.642	.505	4th	
Portfolios, learning logs, journals, projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubric delay the pupils in completing topics in their syllabuses	3.54	.543	.612	5th	
I am restricted to try other assessment tools like journals, projects, graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics due to examination policies in schools	3.37	.524	.643	6th	
Some early childhood teachers have limited knowledge of different forms of assessment in the inclusive classroom	3.23	.635	.123	7th	
Mean of means/Std.D	3.59	.637	.481		
Source: Field Data (2019)	(RS=120)				

Assessment Tools on Children with Intellectual Disabilities

Key: M= *Mean, SD*=*Standard Deviation, MR*=*Means Ranking, RS*=*Retrieved Sample*

Table 4 shows results on problems faced by early childhood teachers in administering assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities. Observing the Kurtosis values, the results show that the study variables follow a normal distribution. This is based on the reason that the kurtosis values were within the acceptable limit for normal distribution of ± 2 . This, therefore implies that the data was normal and as such the descriptive statistics were deemed right for the analysis.

Inferring from the descriptive analysis (Ms & SDs), the results show that fundamentally, most inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis are faced with many problems that hinder them in their quest to administer assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities. This was evident after most of the items scored a mean greater than then Criterion Score (>CS).

Considering the individual items on the challenges, most of the inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis averred that they are faced with limited materials/resources to conduct the assessment in schools (M=3.87>CS (2.50), SD=.714, K=.432, n=120).

In another results, it was espoused that most of the inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis do not have confidence enough to try out authentic assessments like portfolios, learning logs, journals, projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics due to inadequate professional guidance and pose a challenge and problem in their quest to administer assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities (M=3.86>CS (2.50), SD=.575, K=.620, n=120).

In another result, it was found that most of the Inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis are faced with limited time to create/develop authentic assessment tools like portfolios, learning, logs, journals, projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics and this probably pose a challenge in their pursuit to administer assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities (M=3.70>CS~(2.50), SD=.832, K=.431, n=120).

Another challenge was that the assessments take more time to administer, score and report back the results (M=3.62>CS (2.50), SD=.642, K=.505, n=120). The inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis further shared the similar sentiment that Portfolios, learning logs, journals, projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubric delay the pupils in completing topics in their syllabuses (M=3.54>CS (2.50), SD=.543, K=.612, n=120).

Evaluating the teachers responses, it was shown that most inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis are restricted to try other assessment tools like journals, projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics due to examination policies in schools and this pose a challenge in their pursuit to administer assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities (M=3.37>CS (2.50), SD=.524, K=.643, n=120).

Finally, it was asserted by the teachers that some early childhood teachers have limited knowledge of different forms of assessment in the inclusive classroom and this serves a challenge in their pursuit to administer assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities (M=3.23>CS (2.50), SD=.635, K=.123, n=120).

The results from the present study lend support to the work of Eshun, Kankam, Bordoh, Bassaw & Korang,(2014) who conducted a study to investigate the influence of authentic assessment on classroom practices of early childhood teachers and the challenges they encounter in the Social Studies classroom in Ghana. The results of Eshun et al. (2014) found out that the forms of authentic assessment some early childhood teachers used in their classrooms were limited due to examination policies, time, resources and assessment methods employed by their schools. Furthermore, they revealed that most early childhood teachers they observed were not using assessment techniques that involved students in the teaching and learning process. Again, they indicated that some early childhood teachers revealed that using the authentic assessment would delay them in completing topics in their syllabuses given to them.

The results further agree with assertions of Segers, Dochy and Cascallar, (2003) who posited that assessment is challenged in terms of the knowledge required to learn and execute. As the role of student assessment is changing today, it is largely because today's children face a world that demands new knowledge and abilities, and the need to become life-long learners in a world that demand competences and skills not yet defined.

The results from this study confirms that of Reeves (2007), who indicated that assessment challenge, at both the district and school levels, is to develop the capacity of classroom early childhood teachers evaluation of students work in shared and common ways, often using established rubrics or scoring criteria to evaluate products and performances. The results are often complex and nuanced. The student's work on such tasks is typically neither right nor wrong, but rather, combines a variety of strengths and areas needing improvement. Such evaluations can inform summative

judgments, but, most fruitfully, they provide formative instructional guidance, challenging early childhood teachers to use the results to help students take the next steps towards excellence.

In summary, a wholistic assessment takes time as it is not seen from only a facet, rather all facets. Hence, it demands time and patience. In spite of the evidence that teachers in inclusive public early childhood in the Kumasi metropolis face problems in administering assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities, their main bane has been the strictness of following the curriculum without any room for adjustment or flexibility. Curriculum developers must see to it that there is always the need for adjustment tailored towards a wholistic assessment.

Research Question Four: What are the assessment tools teachers employ in supporting the learning needs of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis?

To achieve the purpose of the study, evaluating assessment tools teachers employ in supporting the learning need of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive public early childhood classroom fit for the study. The collected results from the public early childhood's teachers in the Kumasi metropolis are presented in Table 5.

Table 5: Assessment Tools Teachers Employ in Supporting the Learning Need of

Statements	MS	SD Std. E	Kurtosis Statistic	MR
	Criterion Score =2.50			
I use learning logs in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.64	.456	.451	1st
I use portfolios in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.43	.545	.455	2nd
I use paper and pencil test tool in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.34	.616	.545	3rd
I use projects in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.29	.824	.126	4th
I use graphic organizers in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.27	.707	.223	5th
I use journals in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.23	.356	.864	6th
I use rubrics in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities	3.02	.746	.521	7 th
I use concept mapping in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities	2.92	.345	.534	8 th
Mean of means/Std.D	3.59	.637	.481	
Source: Field Data (2019)	(RS=	=120)		

Children with Intellectual Disabilities in Inclusive Schools.

_

Key: M= Mean, SD=Standard Deviation, MR=Means Ranking, RS=Retrieved Sample

Table 5 gives evidence to results on the assessment tools teachers employ in supporting the learning needs of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive

schools. Assessing the Kurtosis values, the results show that the study variables follow a normal distribution. This is grounded on the reason that the calculated kurtosis values in Table 5 were within the acceptable limit for normal distribution of ± 2 . This, therefore, implies that the data was normal and as such the descriptive statistics were deemed exact for the analysis.

From the descriptive analysis (Ms & SDS), the results show that essentially, most inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis employ assessment tools in supporting the learning needs of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive education. This was confirmed after most of the items scored a mean greater than then Criterion Score (>CS).

Narrowing the interpretation to the individual items, most of the Inclusive public kindergarten teachers in the Kumasi metropolis affirmed to use learning logs in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities (M=3.64>CS (2.50), SD=.456, K=.451, n=120).

The majority confirmed the use of portfolios in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities (M=3.43>CS (2.50), SD=.545, K=.455, n=120). Others confirmed they used paper and pencil test tool in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities (M=3.34>CS (2.50), SD=.616, K=.545, n=120).

Another tool that was used was projects in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities (M=3.29>CS (2.50), SD=.824, K=.126, n=120). The use of graphic organizers in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities was not left out (M=3.27>CS (2.50), SD=.707, K=.223, n=120). Finally, it was asserted that they use

journals in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities (M=3.23>CS (2.50), SD=.356, K=.864, n=120).

The results agree with the claims of Tamakloe, Amedahe and Atta (2005) who pointed out that assessment techniques include, but are not limited to paper and pencil tests and performance task. Other means of assessing students are through the responses of students in class, homework performance, and observation of students, interviews/conferences with students, students' presentations and portfolios.

In summary, evidence from this study shows that the least assessment tools employ by most teachers in the inclusive public early childhood in the Kumasi metropolis are the Concept mapping, rubrics, journals and graphic organizers. Possible factors may include; lack of adequate knowledge on the part of teachers to effectively employ these assessment tools in the inclusive public early childhood in the Kumasi metropolis. Also, time constraints. As these assessment tools will involve much time and patience. Besides, it could be that the curriculum was strict that teachers could not employ any of the above assessment tools in order to go against the curriculum.
CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.0 Introduction

The concluding chapter of this study opens with a summary of the objectives of the study, its methodology and data analysis techniques. It proceeds with a summary of the key findings pertaining to each objective and the conclusions drawn from them. Specific recommendations from the findings and conclusions are made to stakeholders for decision making.

5.1 Summary of the Study

The study was a descriptive survey that investigated assessment practices kindergarten teachers employ in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms within selected early childhood centers the Kumasi metropolis. The study was primarily aimed at exploring the views of early childhood teachers regarding assessment practices in use in inclusive early childhood centres of the Kumasi metropolis. Also, examined the level of teacher knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis. In concluding, examined the problems faced by early childhood teachers in administering assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis and investigated the assessment tools teachers employ in supporting the learning needs of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive early childhood centres in the Kumasi metropolis.

The study was conducted in the Ashanti Region of Ghana. A sample of 120 public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis was randomly selected from a total number of 71 public early childhood centres. The purposive sampling technique was used to select the teachers. A self-developed questionnaire was the main instrument for data collection. The data collected were analyzed mainly by frequency and percentage tables and means and standard deviations.

5.2 Key Findings

From objective one, results gave evidence that generally, most public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis have a positive view about assessment practices and confirm to employ it in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms.

Assessing the objective two, it was evident that most public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis have knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive education.

In objective three, it was found that most public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis are faced with many problems that hinder them in their quest to administer assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive public schools. Some of which were the limited materials/resources to conduct the assessment in schools, the lack of confidence to try out authentic assessments like portfolios, learning logs, journals, projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics due to inadequate professional guidance and the limited time to create/develop authentic assessment tools like portfolios, learning, logs, journals, projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics.

Finally, it was revealed that most inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis employ assessment tools in supporting the learning need of children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive education.

5.3 Conclusions

It was evident from the findings of the study that Inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis were well equipped with assessment practices. Teachers having such a sensitive responsibility of assessing and making decisions concerning childrens' academic progress are expected to be professional in the process of achieving testing strategies. However, they were hindered by many factors that retired their assessment practices.

5.4 Recommendations

With respect to the findings resulting from the study, the following recommendation is made:

- More workshops and in-service training should be organized to inclusive public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis with respect to how to follow recommended assessment practices, choose and develop methods appropriate for assessment practices suitable for pupils with intellectual disabilities in the inclusive classrooms. This could be achieved through the collaboration of the ministry of education, the institute of education and other stakeholders of education.
- The teacher division should also make it a point to equip the teachers with skills with regard to their ability to develop scoring schemes to quantify pupils' performance for making informed educational decisions. This is because assessment practices form an integral part of the teaching profession since it is the most widely used as a channel for assessing students in Ghana.
- Teachers should also be sensitized on regular basis on the importance of their assessment practices with regard to construction, administration, and scoring of tests by the Teacher Education(TEd) and the Special Education(SpEd)

divisions. Teachers should know about the implication of their assessment practices and its effect on validity and reliability which will adversely affect how decisions are made on their students. This could be achieved through effective supervision from the office of the education directorate.

- Following most of the principles of assessment practices, teachers be made to employ extra time to enable them to assess their pupils. That is public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis should, therefore, be encouraged by the stakeholders' given allowances as a motivation to follow the right procedures. There is also the need to provide enough physical structures with respect to building classrooms, providing desks among others to aid effective administration of tests.
- Finally, there is also the need to employ more teachers at the various public early childhood teachers in the Kumasi metropolis to reduce the workload with respect to class size.

5.5 Suggestions for Future Research

The following are suggested for future research:

- A study needs to be carried out to look at the perception of teachers in assessment practices and their effect on their practices.
- A study can also be carried out to look at the perception of children and parents alike in teachers' assessment practices and their effects on these practices.
- A study can further be replicated to cover a wide range of the population to establish the extent to which teachers in Ghana follow the basic principles of test construction, administration, and scoring.

REFERENCES

- Ackers, J., Migoli, J., & Nzomo. J. (2001). Identifying and addressing the causes of declining participation rates in Kenyan primary schools. *International Journal* of Educational Development, 21(4), 361-374.
- Act 715 (2006) Persons with Disabilities Act. Republic of Ghana. Assembly Press, Accra, Ghana
- Agbeke, W. K., Gadagbui, G., Avoke, M., Boison, C., l. (2002). Foundations in special education: The Ghanaian perspective. Cape Coast: Nyakod Printing Works
- Agbemaka, J. B. (2016). Multiple solutions approach (MSA): Conception and practices of primary school teachers in Ghana. *International Journal of Research in Education and Science*, 2(2), 333-344.
- Agyedu, D. O., Donkor, F., & Obeng, S. (2007). Research Methods. Cape Coast: Nyakod Printing Works
- Airasian, P. W. (1991). Perspectives on Measurement Instructions. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice.* 10(1), 13.
- Airasian, P. W. (1994). Classroom assessment. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Akyeampong, K., Pryor, J., & Ampiah, J. (2006). A vision of successful schooling; Ghanaian teachers' understandings of learning, teaching and assessment. *Journal of Comparative Education*. 42(1), 155-176.
- Alkharusi, H., Aldhafri, S., Alnabhani, H., & Alkalbani, M. (2012). Educational Assessment Attitudes, Competence, Knowledge and Practices. An Explorative Study of Muscat Teachers in the Sultanate of Oman. *Journal of Education and Learning*, 1(2), 217-232.
- Allen, K. E. & Cowderry, G. E (2012). *The exceptional child: Inclusion in early childhood education (7th, ed). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth, Cengage Learning.*
- Allen, M. (2004). Authentic assessment and the internet: Contributions within knowledge networks. *In E-learn: World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare and Higher Education (pp1505-1510).* Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE).
- Amedahe, F. K. (1989). Testing practices in secondary schools in the Central Region of Ghana. Unpublished Masters' thesis, University of Cape Coast, Cape Coast.
- Amedahe, F. K. (2000) *Continuous Assessment*. Tutor Handbook. University of Cape Coast, Ghana.

- American Federation of Teachers, National Council on Measurement in Education, & National Education Association (AFT, NCME, & NEA). (1990). *Standards for teacher competence in educational assessment of students*. Washington, DC: National Council on Measurement in Education
- Anamuah-Mensah, J., & Quaigrain, K. A. (1998). Teacher competence in the use of essay test. *The Oguaa Educator University of Cape Coast*, 12,31-42
- Andrews V. B. (1990) Schooling and literacy overtime. *Research in the teaching of English, 30, 311-327*
- Angelo, T. A. & Cross, K. P. (1993). Minute paper. Classroom assessment techniques: A handbook for College teachers, 143-153.
- Anhwere, Y. M. (2009). Assessment practices of teacher training college tutors in Ghana (Doctoral dissertation, University of Cape Coast).
- Anthony, J. H. & Kwadade, D. D. (2006). Inclusive education. Master teacher trainer manual. Accra, Ghana, Education Quality for All (EQUALL) Special Education Needs (SEN) Component, United States Agency For International Development (USAID).
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., & Razavieh, A. (2002). Introduction to research in education.
- Asamoah-Gyimah, K. (2002). An evaluation of the Practice of Continuous Assessment in SSS in Ashanti region of Ghana (Doctoral dissertation, Master's Thesis, University of Cape Coast, Ghana).
- Avoke, M. (2001). Some historical perspectives in the development of special education in Ghana. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 16(1), 29-40.
- Babbie, E. R. (1990). Survey research methods Wadsworth Pub. Co Belmont Calif 3(9).
- Bardes, B., & Denton, J. (2001). Using the grading service for department and program assessment. In American Association for Higher Education Conference.
- Barnett, W. S. (1995). Long-term effects of early childhood programs on cognitive and school outcomes. *The future of children* 25-50.
- Barret, R. (1999). Realizing the university. McGraw-Hill Education (UK), 1999.
- Barton, E. E. & Smith, B. J. (2015). Advancing high-quality preschool inclusion: A discussion of recommendations for the field. *Topics in Early Childhood* Special Education, 35(2), 69-78.

- Bassok, D., Bridges, M., Fuller, B., Loeb, S. & Rumberger, R. (2007). How much is too much? The influence of preschool centres on children's social and cognitive development. *Economics of Education Review*, 26 (1), 52-66.
- Beaver, J., & Carter, M. A. (1997). *Developmental reading assessment*. Glenview, IL: Celebration Press.
- Beckman, C. E., Senk, S. L., & Thompson, D. R. (1997). Assessment and grading in high school mathematics classrooms. *Journal for research in Mathematics Education*, 187-275
- Birenbaum, M. (1996). Understanding photos, models, and beliefs: A test of the modularity thesis of theory of mind. *Cognitive Development*, 10(2), 287-298.
- Birenbaum, M., & Feldman, R. A. (1998). Relationships between patterns and attitudes towards two assessment formats. *Educational research*, 40(1), 90-98.
- Black, P. H., & Lee, C. C., Marshall, B., and William, D. 2004. Working inside the box: Assessment for learning in the classroom. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 86(1), 8-21.
- Black, P., & William, D. (1998). Assessment and classroom learning. Assessment in *Education: principles, policy & practice*, 5(1), 7-74.
- Black, P., & William, D. (2010). Inside the black box: Raising standards through classroom assessment. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 92(1), 81-90.
- Black, P., McCormick, R., James, M., & Pedder, D. (2006). Learning how to learn and assessment for learning: A theoretical enquiry. *Research papers in Education*, 21(02), 119-132.
- Borden, V., & Kernel, B. (2010). Measuring quality in higher education: an inventory of instruments, tools and resources. 2014-06-14] *http://apps. airweb. org/surveys.*
- Borg, W. R. & Gall, M. D. (1979). Educational Research: An Introduction. 3d ed. Longman.
- Boro, R. C., Thakuria, D., Talukdar, N. C., Goswami, C., Hazarika, S. & Khan, M, R. (2004). Characterization and screening of bacteria from rhizosphere of rice grown in acidic soils of Assam. Current Science, 978-985.*The University of Manchester (United Kingdom)*.
- Boston, C. (2002). The concept of formative assessment. *The Journal of Education Research*, 93(3), 355-360.
- Boud, D. (1990). Assessment and promotion of academic values. *Studies in higher education*, 15(1), 101-111.
- Boud, D., & Falchikov, N. (2006). Aligning assessment with long-term learning. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 31(4), 399-413.

- Bradford, S., Shippen, M. E., Alberto, P., Houchins, D.E., & Flores, M., (2006). Using systematic instruction to teach decoding skills to middle school students with moderate intellectual disabilities. *Education and Training in developmental disabilities*, *41,333-343*
- Brannen, J. (2005). Mixing methods: The entry of qualitative and quantitative approaches into the research process. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 8(3), 173-184.
- Broadfoot, P., & Black, P. (2004). Redefining assessment? The first ten years of assessment in education. Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 11(1), 7-26.
- Brookhart, S. M. (2011). Educational assessment knowledge and skills for teachers. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practices*, 30(1), 3-12.
- Browder, D. M., Spooner, F., Algozzine, R., Ahlgrim-Delzell, L., Flowers, C, & Karvonen, M. (2006). What we know and need to know about alternate assessment. Exceptional Children, 70(1), 45-61
- Brown, G., Pendleburry, M. (1992). Assessing active learning. CVCP Universities Staff Development Unit.
- Brown, S., Rust, C., & Gibbs, G. (1994). Strategies for diversifying assessment in higher education. Oxford Center for Staff Development.
- Browne, T., Miles, K., McDonald, D., & Wood, J. (2004). Multivariate analysis of seasonal pulp quality variations in a TMP mill. *Pulp and paper Canada*, *105*(10), 35-39.
- Bryman, A., & Becker, S. (2012). *Qualitative research*.Oxford, UK. Oxford University
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social Research Methods. New York: Oxford University Press, Inc
- Burke, K. (1994) 'Attitudes toward inclusion: knowledge vs. experience. *Education*, 125 (2), pp. 163–72
- Calderhead, J. (1996). Teachers Beliefs and Knowledge. London: Routlege Falmer
- Campbell, C., & Evans, J. A. (2000). Investigation of preservice teachers' classroom assessment practices during student teaching. *The Journal of Education Research*, 93(6), 350-355.
- Campbell, C., Murphy, J. A., & Holt, J. K. (2002) Psychometric analysis of an assessment literacy instrument: Applicability to preservice teachers. *In annual meeting of the Mid-Western Educational Research Association, Columbus, OH.*

- Carrie, C., Lasset, C., Alpetite, C., Maire, J. P., Haile-Meder, C., Hoffstetter, S., ... & Seng, S. H. (1994). Multivariate analysis of prognostic factors in adult patients with medullablastoma. Retrospective study of 156 patients. *Cancer*, 74(8), 2352-2360.
- Chapman, R. (2011). 'Choices of methodology for cooperative education researchers', *Asia-Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education*, Retrieved Nov. 02, 2019 from: http://www.apjce.org/volum 1 1 pp 1 8.pdf
- Charman, T., & Baron-Cohen, S. (1995). Understanding photos, models, and beliefs: A test of the modularity thesis of theory of mind. *Cognitive Development*, 10(2), 287-298.
- Cheek, J. (2008). Researching collaboratively: Implications for qualitative research and researchers. *Qualitative Health Research, 18*(11), 1599-1603.
- Cimer, S. O., Cakir, I., & Cimer, A. (2010). Teachers views on the effectiveness of inservice courses on the new curriculum in Turkey. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 33(1), 31-34.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2007).*Research methods in education* (6th ed) London: Taylor and Francis
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2013).*Research methods in education* (7th ed) London: Routlege Falmer
- Cologen,K. (2014) Better Together: Inclusive education in the early years. In K. Cologon (Ed) *Inclusive education in the early years* pp 1-26 South Melbourne:Oxford University Press
- Cook, B.G. & Traverse M. (2000). Inclusive teachers' attitudinal ratings of their students with disabilities. *The Journal of Special Education*, 40(4), 230-238.
- Cooney, T. J. (1992). Teacher education as an exercise in adaptation. *Professional* development for teachers of mathematics, 9-22.
- Crawford, C. (2005). Scoping inclusive education for Canadian students with intellectual and other disabilities. *Toronto Roeher Institute*.
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: choosing among five traditions*. (3rd ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). Research Design Qualitative, Quantitative and Mixed Method Approaches (second ed.). USA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Crook, J., & Crossman, A. (2004). Satisfaction with performance appraisal systems: a study of role perceptions. *Journal of managerial psychology*. 19(5), 526-541.
- Crooks, T. J. (20010.). The impact of classroom evaluation practices on students. *Review of educational research*, 58(4), 438-481.

- Darling-Hammond, L. (2010). Teacher education and the American future. *Journal of teacher education*, 61(1-2), 35-47.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2013). *Getting teacher evaluation right. What really matters* for effectiveness and improvement. Teacher College Press.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Adamson, F. (2013). *Developing assessment of deeper learning. The cists and benefits of using tests that help students learn.* Stanford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education.
- Darragh, J. (2010). Introduction to early childhood education: Equity and inclusion. Pearson.
- Davis, L. (1991). Handbook of genetics algorithms. New York: Thomson Delmar learning
- Dean, J. (1999). Managing the primary. London: Routledge
- DEC/NAEYC. (2009). *Early Childhood incluision*: A Joint position statement of the the division for early childhood (DEC) and the Nartions Association for the Education of young children (NAEYC). Chapel Hill:
- Deiner, P. L. (2005). Resources for educating children with diverse abilities: Birth Through eight (4th ed.). New York: Thomson Delmar learning.
- Delaney, E. M. (2001). The Administrator's role in Making Inclusion Work. Young Children, 56(5), 66-70.
- DeLuca, C., & Klinger, D. A. (2010). Assessment literacy development: identifying gaps in teacher candidates' learning. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy and Practice, 17(*4), 419-438.
- Denscombe, M. (2003). The good research guide .Maidenhead.
- Denzin, N. K. & Lincoln. Y. S. (2011). Introduction: The discipline and practice of qualitative research. In: N. K. DENZIN and Y. S. LINCOLN, ed. The sage handbook of qualitative research. 4th ed. pp.1-19. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Department of Educational Research and Improvement (1993). Children and their primary schools: A report of the Central Advisory Council for Education. (Chair: Lady B. Plowden). London: HMSO
- Department of Education (1999). Green Paper on Education Education for a Changing World. Winsconsin Education Association Council: The Stationery Office.
- Dhindsa, H. S., Omar, K., & Waldrip, B. (2007). Upper Secondary Bruneian science students' perception of assessment. *International Journal of Science Education*, 29(10), 1261-1280.

- Duffy, T. M., Lowyck, J., Jonassen, D. H., & Welsh, T. M. (Eds.). (1993). *Designing* environments for constructive learning (p.1). Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Duke, C. (2002). the morning after the millennium: building the long-haul learning university. *International Journal of Lifelong Education*, 21(1), 24-36.
- Durkin, M. (2002). The epidemiology of developmental disabilities in low-income countries. *Mental retardation and developmental disabilities research reviews*, 8(3), 206-211.
- Edmunds, A. L. (2006). Preparing canadian teachers for inclusion. *Exceptionality Education Canada, 13, 5-6.*
- EFA Global Monitoring Report 2008. Education for All by 2015 Will we make it? Paris,
- Elliot, N. S., Kratochwill, T. R., Cook, J. L., & Travers, J, F. (2000). Effective learning. *educational Psychology*.
- Emmel, N. (2013). Sampling and choosing cases in qualitative research: A realist approach. Sage
- Eshun, I., Bassaw, T. K., Kankam, B., Bordoh, A., & Korang, F. Y. (2014). Teachers perception of authentic assessment techiques practice in social studies lessons in senior high schools in Ghana. *International Journal of Educational Research and Information Science*, 1(4), 62-68.
- European Union Agency for Development of Special Needs Education (2012) Choice and Control: The Right to Independent Living. Experiences of persons with intellectual disabilities and persons with mental health problems in nine EU Member States. Vienna: European Agency for Fundamental Rights.
- Evans. J. L (2000) Early Childhood Counts: A programming guide for early childhood care for development. Washington D.C.:World Bank
- Fabiano, G. A., Reddy, L. A., & Dudek, C. M. (2018). Teacher coaching supported by formative assessment for improving classroom practices. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 33(2), 293.
- Falchikov, N., and J. Goldfinch. 2000. "Student Peer Assessment in Higher Education: A Meta-analysis Comparing Peer and Teacher Marks." *Review of Educational Research* 70 (3):287–322.10.3102/00346543070003287
- Field, A. (2005). Discovering statistics using SPSS. Thousand Oaks, CA, US.
- Free Compulsory Universal Basic Education (FCUBE) (1995) Government of Ghana
- Fielding, J., & Gilbert, G. N. (2000). Understanding social statistics. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.

- Fielding, M. (1994). Valuing difference in teachers and learners: building on Kolb's learning style to develop a language of teaching and learning. *The Curriculum Journal*, 5(3), 393-417.
- Fraenkel, J. R. and Wallen, N. E. (1993) *How to Design and Evaluate Research in Education*. New York: McGraw-Hill
- Frazier, D. M., & Paulson. F. L. (1992). How Portfolios Motivate Reluctant Writers. *Educational Leadership*, 49(8), 62-65.
- Gadagbui, G. Y. (1998). Education in Ghana and special needs children. City Publishers.
- Gadagbui, G. Y. (2008). Inclusive education in Ghana: Practices, challenges and the future implications for all stakeholders. Faculty of Educational Studies: University of Education, Winneba.
- Garet, M. S., & Mills, V. L, (1995). Changes in teaching practices: the effects of the curriculum and evaluation standards. *The Mathematics Teacher*. *98*(5), 380.
- Garrison, C., & Ehringhaus, M. (2007). Formative and summative assessments in the classroom.
- Gay, L., & Diehl, P. (1992). Research methods for business and management: MacMillan Coll Div.
- Genesee, F., & Upshur, J. A. (1996). Classroom-based evaluation in second language education. Cambridge University Press.
- George, D. & Mallery P.(2011). *IBM SPSS Statistics 19 Step by Step: A simple Guide* and Reference: Pearson Higher Education
- Georgia Department of Education (GADOE). (2010-present). Retrieved at www.gadoe.com
- Ghana Education Service (2005). Conference of heads of second cycle schools: Adjumako, Central Region, Ghana
- Ghana Statistical Service. (2012). 2010: Population and housing census—Summary report of final results. Accra, Ghana: Sakoa Press. Retrieved from http://www.statsghana.gov.gh/docfiles/2010phc/Census2010_Summary_report of final results.pdf

Ghana National Disability Document of 2000

- Gibbs, G. 1992. Assessing More Students. Oxford, UK. Oxford Centre for Staff Learning and Development
- Gibbs, J. B. (1999). Attitudes and beliefs regarding classroom management between traditionally certified and alternatively certified high school teachers.

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation. The University of Southern Mississippi. Hattiesburg

- Gilbert, C., & Hark, M. (1990). Towards Integration: special needs in an ordinary school. Kogan Page.
- Gonzalez-Mena, J., & Gonzalez-Mena, J. (2008). Diversity in early care and childhood: Honoring differences. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Goodman, G., Arbona, C., & Dominguez de Rameriz, R. (2008). High stakes, minimum competency exams: how competent are they for evaluating teacher competence?. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 59(1), 24-39.
- Goodrum, D., Rennie, L.J., & Hackilng, M. W. (2005). *The status and quality of teaching and learning of science in Australian schools; A research report.* Canberra: Department of Education, Training and Youth Affairs.
- Goslin, D. A. (1967). Teachers and testing. New York: Russell Sage Foundation
- Graphic Online (2014) Looking at the positive impact of ECCD. Available at: www.graphic.com.gh/news/.../looking-at-positive-impact-of-eccd.html
- Green, L. W., Lewis, F. M., Mullen, P. D., & Iverson, D. C. (1986). Measurement and evaluation in health education and health promotion.
- Groark, C. J. & Kaczmarek, L., (2007). Early intervention practices for children with and at risk for delays. *Evidence-based practices and programs for early childhood care and education*, 25.
- Grotewell, P. G., & Burton, Y. R. (2008). Early childhood education: Issues and developments. Nova Publishers.
- Gruenberg, A. M., & Miller, R. (2011). A practical guide to early childhood *inclusion:* Effective reflection. Pearson.
- Gulickers, J., Bastiaens, T., Kirschner, P. A. & Kirster, L. (2006). Relations between students' perception of assessment authenticity, study of approaches and learning outcome.
- Gullickson, A. R. (1984). Teacher perspectives of their instructional use of tests. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 77(4), 244-248.
- Gurski, L. F. (2008). Secondary teachers' assessment and grading practices ininclusive classrooms. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Saskatchewan).
- Hardman, F., Abd-Kadir, J., & Smith, F. (2008). Pedagogical renewal. Improving the quality of classroom interaction in Nigerian primary schools. *International journal of educational development*, 28(1), 55-69.

- Harlen, W. (2006). On the relationship between assessment for the formative and summative purposes. *Assessment and learning*, *2*, 95-110.
- Hattori, K. & Saba (2008). Comparison of classroom assessment in practices: A case of selected Ghanaian and Japanese mathematics lessons. *NUE Journal of International Education Cooperation*, 3, 95-105.
- Heaton, J, B. (1975). Writing English language texts: A practical guide for teachers of English as a second or foreign language. *Longman Publishing Group*.
- Herman, J. L., Aschbacher, P. R., & Winters, L. (1992). A practical guide to alternative assessment. Alexandria. Va: association for supervision and curriculum development.
- Herman, J. L., Osmundsen, E., & Dietel, R. (2010). Benchmark Assessment for Improved Learning. An AACC Policy Brief. Assessment and Accountability Comprehensive Center.
- Hesse, Biba, S.N., & leavy, P. (2011). *The practice of qualitative research (2nd ed)*. *Los Aneles: SAGE*
- Hodges, D., Eames, C., & Coll, R. K. (2014). Theoretical Perspectives on Assessment in Cooperative Education Placements. Asia-Pacific Journal of Cooperative Education, 15(3), 189-207.
- Holdsworth, C. (2010). Why volunteer? Understanding motivations for student volunteering. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 58(4), 421-437.
- Homer, R. H., Carr, E. G., Halle. J., McGee, G., Odom, S., & Wolery, M. (2005). The use of single-subject to identify evidence-based practice in special education. *Exceptional Children*, *71*(2), 165-179.
- Ho Sui- Chi, & Williams D. J (2001). Effects of Parental involvement on eighthgrade achievement. *Sociology of Education*. 69(1), pp.126-141.
- Hossain, Z., Roopmarine, J. L., Masud, J., Muhamed, A. A. H., Baharudin, R., Abdullah, R., & Juhari, R. (2005). Mothers' and Fathers' childcare involvement with young children in rural families in Malaysia. *International Journal of Psychology*, 40(6), 385-394.
- James, M., & Pedder, D. (2006). Beyond method: Assessment and learning practices and values. *The Curriculum Journal*, 17 (2), 109-138
- Joetta, H & Carter, W. (2001) Learning to teach in a political classroom. Sage
- Kagitcibasi, C. (1991). Early enrichment project in Turkey. Notes, comments.../Unesco, Unite de cooperation avec I'UNICEF et le PAM; no. 193.

- Kamenetz, A. (2015). The Test: Why our Schools are Obsessed with Standardized Testing-But You Don't Have To Be. PublicAffairs.
- Kang, S. C., & Snell, S. A. (2006). Intellectual capital architectures and ambidextrous learning: a framework for human resource management. *Journal of Management Studies*, 46(1), 65-92.
- Kankam, B., Bordoh, A., Eshun, I., Bassaw, T. K., & Korang, F. Y. (2014). Teachers perception of authentic assessment techiques practice in social studies lessons in senior high schools in Ghana. *International Journal of Educational Research and Information Science*, 1(4), 62-68.
- Kanu, Y. (1996). Educating teachers for the improvement of the quality of basic education in developing countries. *International journal of Educational Development*. 16(2), 173-184.
- Kellaghan, T., & Greaney, V. (1992). Using Examinations To Improve Education: A study in Fourteen African Countries. World Bank Technical Paper Number 165. Africa Bank Technical Department Series. Distribution Unit, Office of the Publisher, Department F, The World Bank, 1818 H Street, NW, Washington, DC 20443 (free).
- Kerlinger, F. N. (1973). *Multiple regression in behavioral research* (No. 04; HA31 . 3, K4.).
- Knudsen, E. I. (2004). Sensitive periods in the development of the brain and behavior. Journal of cognitive neuroscience. 16(8), 1412-1425.
- Koh, K. H. (2011). Improving teachers' assessment literacy through professional development. *Teaching Education*, 22(3)255-276.
- Krejcie, R. V., & Morgan, D. W. (1970). Determining sample size for research activities. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 30(30, 607-610.
- Krull, J., Wilbert, J., & Henneman, T. (2014). The Social and Emotional Situation of First Graders with Classroom Behavior Problems and Classroom Learning Difficulties in Inclusive Classes. *Learning Disabilities-A Contemporary Journal*, 12(2).
- Laurillard, D. (2002). Rethinking University Education: A conversational framework for the effective use of learning technologies. *Routledge Falmer, London*.
- Lazarin, M (2014). Testing Overloads in America's Schools. Center for American Progress.
- Legters, N., & McDill, E. L., (1994). Rising to the challenge: Emerging strategies for educating. youth at risk. NCREL; 1994.
- Levitt, H. (2008). *Early childhood education: History, theory, practice*. New York: Rowman & Little Field Education.

- Lincoln Y. S., & Denzin, N. K. (Eds). (2003). *Turning points in qualitative research: Tying knots in a handkerchief.* Rowman Altamira.
- Linn, R. L., & Gronlund, N. E. (1995). Measurement and Assessment in Teaching. 7.
- Loeb. S., Bridges, M., Bassok, D., Fuller, B., & Rumberger, R. W. (2007). How much is too much? The influence of preschool centers on childrens' social and cognitive development. *Economics of Education review*, 26(1) 52-66.
- Lumadi, M. W. (2013). Challenges besetting teachers in classroom assessment: An Explorative perspective. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 34(3), 211-221.
- Lundberg, I. & Reichenberg, M.(20013). Developing reading comprehension among students with mild intellectual disabilities. An intervention study. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research 57(1), 89-100*
- Maclellan, E. (2001). Assessment for learning: the differing perception of tutors and students. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 26(4), 307-318.
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing Qualitative Research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc
- Marton, F. Entwistle, N. J., & Hounsell, D., (Eds). (1984). *The experience of learning*. Scottish Academic Press
- Marzano, R. J., Pickering, D., & McTighe, J. (1993). Assessing Student Outcomes: Performance assessment using the Dimensions of Learning Model. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development, 1250 N. Pitt St., Alexandria, VA22314 (Stock Number 611-93179, \$13.95).
- Marzano, R. J., Pickering, D., & Pollock, J. E. (2001). Classroom instruction that works: Research-based strategies for increasing student achievement. Ascd.
- Maulik, P. K., Mascarenhas, M. N., Mathers, C. D., Dua, T., & Saxena, S. (2011). Prevalence of Intellectual disability: a meta-analysis of population-based studies. *Research in developmental disabilities*, 32(2), 419-436.
- Maxwell, J. A. (1996). Qualitative research design: A interactive approach.
- McAlpine, L., & Weston, C. (2002). Reflection: Issues related to improving professors' teaching and students' learning. *In Teacher thinking, beliefs and knowledge in higher education (pp 59-78).* Springer, Dordrecht.
- Mcdevitt, T. M., & Ormrod, J. E. (2008). Fostering Conceptual Change About Child Development in Prospective Teachers and Other College Students. *Child Development Perspectives*, 2(2), 85-91.
- McMillan, J. H. (2001). Essential Assessment Concepts for Teachers and Administrators. Experts in Assessment.

- McMillan, J. H., Myran, S., & Workman, D. (2002). Elementary teachers' classroom assessment and grading practices. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 95(4), 203-213.
- McTighe, J., & O'connor, K. (2005). Seven practices for effective learning. *Kaleidoscope: Contemporary and Classic Readings in Education*, 174.
- Meltzer, J., & Hamann, E. T. (2006). Literacy for English learners and regular students, too. *The Education Digest*, 71(8), 32.
- Mertler, C. A. (2003). Preservice Versus In service Teachers' Assessment Literacy: Does Classroom Experience Make a Difference?
- Mertler, C. A., & Campbell, C. (2005). Measuring Teahers' Knowledge and Application of Classroom Assessment Concepts: Development of the "Assessment Literacy Inventory". *Online Submission*.
- Miles, S. (2004). Engaging with teachers' knowledge: promoting inclusion in Zambian schools. *Disability & Society*, 24(5), 611-624
- Ministry of Education LM.EJ. (2013). Report on basic statistics and planning parameters for Basic Education in Ghana 2012/2012. Accra, Ghana, MOE.
- Ministry of Education Youth & Sports (MoEYS) (2005), Preliminary Education Sector Performance Report, Ministry of Education Sports and Science, Accra, Ghana, 103. 16/17 17/17
- Mintah, J. K. (2003). Authentic assessment in physical education: Prevalence of use and perceived impact on students' self-concept, motivation, and skill achievement. *Measurement in physical education and exercise science*. 7(3), 161-174.
- Moore, B. (2009). Emotional intelligence for school administrators: a priority for school reform?. *American Secondary Education*, 20-28.
- Morgan, C., & Watson, A.(2002). The interpretive nature of teachers' assessment of students' mathematics: Issues for equity. *Journal for research in Mathematics education*, 78-110.
- Morison, J. W. (2001) Early care and education in Ghana. *Childhood education*, 77(4)214-218 doi:10.1080/0094056.2001.10522167
- Morss, D. A. (1999). A study of student perspective on web-based learning: WebCT in the classroom. *Internet Research*, 9(5), 393-408.
- Myklebust, J. O., & Batevik, F. O. (2006). Earning a living for special students with special educational needs. Does class placement matter? *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 24(2), 203-212

- Needham, P., & Bredekamp, H. (2011). Galileo Makes a Book: The First Edition of Sidereus nuncius, Venice 1610, Vol. 2 of Galileo's O.
- Nelson, R. (2013). Probability, stochastic processes, and queueing theory. The mathematics of computer performance modeling. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Ninomiya, S. (2016). The possibilities and limitation of assessment for learning: Exploring the theory of formative assessment and notion of "closing the learning gap". *Educational Studies in Japan, 10,* 79-91.
- Nitko, A. J. (2001). *Educational assessment of students*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall
- Nitko, A. J. (2004). *Educational assessment of students*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall
- Nortey, D. A. (2009). *Barriers to social participation for the deaf and hard of hearing in Ghana.* (Master's Thesis, The University of Bergen).
- Northwest Evaluation Association. (2012). About NWEA.
- Nutbrown, C. (2006). Threads of thinking: Young children learning and the role of early education. Sage.
- O'leary, Z. (2004). The Essential guide to doing research. Sage.
- Obeng A.S (2012). Children with disabilities in early care in Ghana. International Journal of early chidhood 4(2), 50-63.
- Odom, S. L., Horner, R. H., Snell, M. E. & Blacher, J.,(Eds.). (2007) Handbook of Developmental Disabilities. New York: The Guilford Press
- Oduro, E. O. (2015). Assessment in mathematics classroom in Ghana: a study of teachers' practices (Doctoral dissertation, University of Sussex).
- Oppenheim, A. N. 1992. *Questionnaire design, interviews and attitude measurement*. London: Pinter Publishers Ltd
- Oppenheim, J., & Macgregor, T. (2002). The economics of education. Public benefits of high-quality preschool education for low-income children. *Building Communties for Change: Entergy Corporation and Arkansas Advocates for Children & Families, Little Rock, AR.*
- Ormrod, J. E. (2008).*Practical research: Planning and design* (7th ed.). New Jersey: Merrill Prentice Hall
- O-saki, K.M.A., & Agu, A. O. (2002). A study of classroom interaction in primary schools in the United Republic of Tanzania. *Prospects* 32(1) 103-116.

- Osuala, E. C. (2001). Introduction to research methodology. Onitsha: Africana First Publishers Ltd
- Palomba, C. A., & Banta, T. W.(1999). Assessment Essentials: Planning, Implementing and Improving Assessment in Higher Education. Higher and Adult Education Series. Jossey-Bass, Inc., Publishers, 350 Sansome Street, San Franciso, CA 94104.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Paulson, F. L., Paulson, P R., & Meyer, C. A. (1991). What makes a portfolio a portfolio. *Educational leadership*, 48(5).
- Pellegrino, J. W., & Goldman, S. R. (2017). Beyond rhetoric: Realities and complexities of integrating assessment into classroom teaching and learning. *In the Future of assessment* (7-52). Routledge.
- Phillips, V., & Bubbles L. (2000). Consultation-based programming: Instituting the collaborative ethic in schools. *Exceptional children*, 56, 219-304
- Phye, G. D. (1997). "Handbook of academic learning: Construction of knowledge." Elsevier.
- Plake, B. S., Impara, J. C., & Fagger, J. J. (1992). Assessment competencies of teachers: A national survey. *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, 12(4), 10-12.
- Plake, B. S. (1993). Teacher assessment literacy: Teachers' competencies in the educational assessment of students. *Mid-Western Educational Researcher*, 6(1), 21–27
- Polit, DF., & Hungler, BP. (1995). Fundamentals of nursing research. In *Fundamentals of Nursing Research*.
- Pontefract, C., & Hardman, F. (2005). The discourse of classroom interaction in Kenyan primary schools. *Comparative education*, 41(1), 87-106.
- Popham, W. J. (2006). All about accountability/phony assessments: Buyer beware. *Educational Leadership*, 64(3), 86-87.
- Prasanthi, B.V. & Vas, Vijetha. (2019). Classroom Assessment Methods and Tools: A Review
- Quagrain, A.K.(1992). Teacher competence in the use of essay tests: A study of secondary schools in the Western Region of Ghana. Unpublished thesis, University of Cape Coast, Cape Coast, Ghana
- Quinn, N. (2000). Beliefs and community responses to mental illness in Ghana: the experiences of family carers. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 53, 175-88.

- Ramdsen, P., Beswick, D. G., & Bowden, J. A. (1996). Effects of Learning-Skills Intervention on 1ST Year University Students Planning. Human Learning. 5(3), 151-164.
- Reddy, L. A (2018). Teacher coaching supported by formative assessment for improving classroom practices. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 33(2), 293
- Reeves, D. (2007). Challenges and Choices: The role of educational leaders in effective assessment. *Ahead of the curve. The power of assessment to transform teaching and learning*, 227-251.

Reston, V. NCTM, (2000). Dorothy Y. White For The Editorial Panel.

- Reynolds, A. J., Temple, J. A., & Ou, S. R. (2003). School-based early intervention and child well-being in the Chicago Longitudinal Study. *Child welfare* 82, no.5
- Robson, P. (2002). The economics of international integration. Routledge.
- Romanoski, J., Cavanagh, R., Waldrip, B., Dorman, J., & Fisher, D. (2005). Measuring students' perceptions of classroom assessment. In assessment and measurement special interest group at the 2005 annual conference on the Australian association for research in education.
- Roopnarine, J. L., & Johnson, J. E. (2005). *Approaches to early childhood education*. Toronto: Preface Publishers
- RoseMartin, J. R. (2013). Learning to write, reading to learn. Genre, knowledge and pedagogy in the Sydney School. Sheffield: Equinox.
- Rossman, G.B. (2011). Learning in the field; An introduction to qualitative research. Sage
- Rowntree, D. (1981). A dictionary of education. Harpercollins.
- Rwanamiza, E. (2004). Assessment of Students Learning in Higher Education: The Case of the Kigali Institute of Education, Rwanda. *The University of Manchester (United Kingdom)*.
- Sasser, A. (2018). Novice Teachers' Perception of Mentoring and Teacher Retention.
- Schafer, W. D., & Lissitz, R. W. (1987). Measurement training for school personnel recommendation and reality. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 38(3), 57-63.
- Segers, M., Dochy, F., & Cascallar, E. (2003). The era of assessment engineering: Changing perspectives on teaching and learning and the role of new modes of assessment. In Optimising new modes of assessment. In search of qualities and standards (pp1-12). Springer, Dordrecht.

- Seng, S. H. (1994). Quality of kindergarten education in Singapore. Parents views and expectations. A paper presented at the Biennial meetings of ISSBD. Netherlands, Amsterdam
- Senk, S. L., Beckman, C. E., & Thompson, D. R. (1997). Assessment and grading in high school mathematics classrooms. *Journal for research in Mathematics Education*, 187-275.
- Shepard, L. A. (2000). The role of assessment in a learning culture. *Educational* researcher, 29(7), 4-14.
- Shuichi, N. (2016) The possibilities and limitations of assessment for learning: Exploring the theory of formative assessment and the notion of "closing the learning gap". *Educational Studies in Japan 10,79-91*
- Silverman, D. (2001). Interpreting Qualitative Data: Methods for Analyzing Talk, Text and Interaction. SAGE, 2001.
- Soukakou, E. P. (2012). Measuring quality in inclusive preschool classrooms: Development and validation of the Inclusive classroom Profile (ICP). *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 27(3), 478-488.
- Smith, B. J., Dietrich, S. L., & Bruder, M. B. (2012). Comparison of state certification and professional association personnel standards of early childhood special education. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*. 32(1), 24-37
- Spencer, L., Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., & Dillon, L. (2003). Quality in qualitative evaluation: a framework for assessing research evidence. 2003. London: Government Chief Social Researcher's Office Google Scholar.
- Stayton, V. D., Smith, B. J., Dietrich, S. L., & Bruder, M. B. (2012). Comparison of state certification and professional association personnel standards of early childhood special education. *Topics in Early Childhood Special Education*. 32(1), 24-37.
- Stecher, B. (2010). Performance assessment in an era of standard-based educational accountability. *Standford Center for Opportunity Policy in Education*.
- Stiggins, R. J. (1992). Assessment literacy. Phi Delta kappan, 72(7), 534-39
- Struyven, K., Dochy, F., Janssens, S., & Gielen, S. (2006). On the dynamics of students' approaches to learning. The effects of teaching or learning environment. *Learning and Instruction*, *16*(4) 279-294.
- Tamakloe, A. & Amedahe (1996). Principles and Methods of Teaching. *Blackmask Ltd*, *Accra Ghana*.
- Tamakloe, E. K., Amedahe, F. K., Atta, E. T. (2005). Principles and Methods of teaching. Accra, Ghana.

- Tan, C. (2007). Education reforms in Cambodia: issues and concerns. *Educational* reform for policy and practice, 6(1), 15-24.
- Teddlie, C. & Tashakkori, A.(2009) Foundations of mixed methods research: Integrating quantitative and qualitative approaches in the social and behavioural sciences. 'Thousand Oaks. Carlifornia: Sage Publications, Inc
- Torrance, H., & Pryor, J. (2001). Developing formative assessment in the classroom: Using action research to explore and modify theory. *British educational research journal*, 27(5), 615-631.
- Tunmer, W. E., Chapman, J. W., Greaney, K. T., Prochnow, J. E. & Arrow, A. W. (2013). Why the New Zealand National Strategy has failed and what can be done about it: Evidence from the progress in International Reading Literacy Study (PIRLS) 2011 and Reading Recovery monitoring reports. *Australian Journal of Learning Difficulties*.18(2), 139-180.
- Tuttle, H. G. (2009). "Formative assessment: Responding to your students. Routlege UNESCO
- UNESCO (2009). Policy Guidelines on Inclusion in Education. Paris: UNESCO
- UNICEF, (2014). Child Protection. Child Disabilities website
- United Nations. (2006). Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities. New York: UN. University Press
- United States of America. Department of Education. (2015). No Child Left Behind. Yukon Department of Education [online]. [Accessed 24 September 2019]. Available from: http://www.ed.gov/
- University of Western California. 2012. "Calibrated Peer Review: Web-based Writing and Peer Review." http://cpr.molsci.ucla.edu/Overview.aspx.
- University System of Georgia (1992). Out Segment Handbook: A guide for students, mentors and university supervisors. University Press Ltd.
- U.S. Department of Labor, (2000) Workers Assessment sheet. Sheffield: Equinox
- Vandewlle, D., Cron, W. L., & Slocum Jr, J. W. (2001). The role of goal orientation following performance feedback. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(4), 629.
- Varnhagen, C.K., & Goldman, S.R. (1986). Improving comprehension: Causal relations of instruction for learning handicapped learners. Reading Teacher, 39, 896–904.
- Volante, l., & Fazio, X. (2007). Exploring Teacher Candidates' Assessment Literacy: Implications for Teacher Education Reform and Professional Development. *Canadian Journal of Education, 30*(3), 749-770.

Vygotsky, L. (1978). Mind in Society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press

- Wade S. E. & Moje, E. B. (2000). An introduction to case pedagogies for teacher educators. *Preparing teachers for inclusive education: Case pedagogies and curricula for teacher educators*, 3-24.
- Wallace, G., Larsen, S. C., & Elksnin, L. (1992). "Educational assessment of learning problems: Testing for teaching." Allyn & Bacon.

Wallen, K. & Frankel, W., (1991). Determining Reliability for Research Instruments.

- Ward, J. G. (1980). Teachers and Testing; A survey of knowledge and Attitudes.
- Webb, E., Morey, J., Thompson, W., Butler, C., Barber, M., & Fraser, W. I. (2003). Prevalence of autistic spectrum disorder in children attending mainstream school in a Welsh education authority. *Developmental Medicine and Childhood Neurology*, 45(6), 377-384.
- Webb, L. (2003). Ready to learn: teaching kindergarten students school success skills. *The Journal of Educational Research 96(5) 286-292*
- Western Carolina University, (2001). Strategies for diversifying assessment in higher education. Oxford Center for Staff Development
- Wiggins, G. (1990). The case for authentic assessment. *Practical assessment, research & evaluation.* 2(2), 1-3.
- Winter, C. & Firth, R. (2007). Knowledge about education for sustainable development: four case studies of student teachers in English secondary schools. *Journal of Education for Teaching*. 33(3), 341-358.
- Winter, S. (2007). *Inclusive early childhood education: A collaborative approach*. Upper Saddle River: Pearson Merill Prentice Hall.
- WHO. (2001). International Classification of Functioning, disability and health. Paper presented at the Fifty-fourth World Health Assembly Geneva, 22 May 2001.
- World Bank. (2005). "Education for All: Including Children with Disabilities--Summarized Lessons Learned and Key Policy Findings on the World Bank's Work in Education.
- Wright, C., Deiner, M. L., & Kemp, J. L. (2013). Storytelling dramas as a community building activity in an early childhood classroom. *Early Childhood Education journal*, 41(3), 197-210.
- Yin, R.K. (2011). Qualitative research from start to finish. New York: Guilford Press.
- Youngman, J. K.(1984). Scoping inclusive education for students with intellectual and other disabilities. USA: Sage Publications, Inc

University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

Zhang, Z., & Burry-Stock, J. A. (2003). Classroom assessment practices and teachers' self-perceived assessment skills. *Applied Measurement in Education*, 16(4), 323-342.



APPENDIX A

UNIVERSITY OF EDUCATION, DEPARTMENT OF EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION

QUESTIONNAIRE FOR TEACHERS OF PUBLIC INCLUSIVE SCHOOLS IN THE KUMASI METROPOLIS

Dear respondent, I am a student of University of Education, Winneba, offering M. Phil (Early Childhood Education) programme in the Department of Early childhood Education. I am conducting a study on the topic: Teachers' assessment practices for children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms in selected public inclusive schools in the Kumasi metropolis. I would be grateful if you could respond to the following items appropriately to enable me find answers to the study. The confidentiality and anonymity of your responses are assured. The information you provide will be used for academic purpose only. Thank you.

Section A: Background Information

Instruction: Please, tick $(\sqrt{})$ the response which corresponds with your background information.

- 1. Gender: Male [] Female []
- 2. Educational level:

SHS [] Dip. [] B. Ed [] M. Ed [] MA [] MSC [] M. Phil []

- Any other? (Please specify).....
- 3. What class (es) do you teach?
- 4. Number of children with intellectual disabilities in your classroom.....
- 5. Number of years of teaching in the inclusive classroom(s).
- 0 5 [] 6 10 [] 11 15 [] 16 20+ []
- 6. Aside teaching hours, have you had any encounter with children with intellectual disabilities? Yes [] No []

Section B: Teachers' views regarding various assessment practices.

Instruction: Below is a table to be completed. It involves statements about your views regarding various assessment practices you employ in assessing children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive classrooms on a 4 point scale of SA, A, D and SD. The letters stand for the following; SA (strongly agree), A (agree), D (disagree), SD (strongly disagree)

For each of the statements, indicate with a tick ($\sqrt{}$) the one that best reflects your views.

Statements	SA	Α	D	SD
I do not follow many assessment practices recommended				
I have adequate knowledge of testing and measurement for				
pupils with intellectual disabilities				
I am interested in assessing students' mastery or achievement				
and that performance assessment is used frequently				
I view classroom assessment as an added requirement to my				
teaching profession				
I have diverse assessment and grading practices for pupils with				
intellectual disabilities in the inclusive classrooms				
Assessment is a tool to improve effective teaching and learning				
in the inclusive classroom				

Section C: Level of teacher knowledge about assessment practices in inclusive early childhood centres

	Statements	SA	D	SD
	I am capable of choosing and developing methods appropriate			
	for assessment practices suitable for pupils with intellectual			
	disabilities in the inclusive classroom			
	I can use Assessment need to develop valid grading procedures			
	for pupils with intellectual disabilities in the inclusive			
	classroom.			
	I am knowledgeable in the content area I teach, as I am able to			
	set and apply learning intentions consistent with content and			
	depth of the curriculum goals.			
•	I understand the purposes of the assessment type, and am able to			
	apply it			
	I have the ability to develop scoring schemes to quantify pupils			
•	performance for making informed educational decisions, and			

skilful in administering external assessments and interpreting		
their results		
I am able to apply educational decisions made out from		
classroom assessments for pupils with intellectual disabilities		
I am aware that effective assessment depends on teachers'		
knowledge due to the continual interaction between teachers and		
pupils		
My involvement in the design, use, and scoring of performance-		
based assessments has the potential to powerfully link		
instruction, assessment, pupils' learning, and teacher		
professional development.		
I am capable of administering, scoring and interpreting		
assessment results for educational decisions		
I am skilful in analyzing assessment type methods, and skilful in		
• providing meaningful feedback on pupils work in the inclusive		
classroom		
I am able to communicate assessment information to pupils to		
motivate them to learn and understand the legal and ethical		
issues in the classroom assessment practices		
I possess the strategies for communicating the expectations of		
the learning intentions to pupils with intellectual disabilities		

Section D: Problems faced by teachers in administering assessment tools on children with intellectual disabilities in public early childhood centres

	Statements	SA	Α	D	SD
	Portfolios, learning logs, journals, projects graphic organizers,				
	concept mapping and rubri delay the pupils in completing topics				
	in their syllabuses				
	Some early childhood teachers have limited knowledge of				
	different forms of assessment in the inclusive classroom				
	I am faced with limited time to create/develop authentic				
	assessment tools like portfolios, learning ,logs, journals, projects				
	graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics				
	I am not confident enough to try out authentic assessments like				
	portfolios, learning logs, journals, projects graphic organizers,				
	concept mapping and rubrics due to inadequate professional				
	guidance				
	I am restricted to try other assessment tools like journals,				
	projects graphic organizers, concept mapping and rubrics due to				
	examination policies in schools				
•	I am faced with limited materials/resources to conduct the				
	assessment in schools				
•	Assessments take more time to administer, score and report back				
	the results.				

Section E: Assessment tools teachers employ in supporting the learning need of
children with intellectual disabilities in inclusive early childhood centres

	Statements	SA	Α	D	SD
•	I use paper and pencil test tool in assessing pupils with				
	intellectual disabilities				
•	I use portfolios in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities				
•	I use learning logs in assessing pupils with intellectual				
	disabilities				
•	I use journals in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities				
•	I use graphic organizers in assessing pupils with intellectual				
	disabilities				
•	I use rubrics in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities				
•	I use projects in assessing pupils with intellectual disabilities				
•	I use concept mapping in assessing pupils with intellectual				
	disabilities				

APPENDIX B



APPENDIX C

GHANA EDUCATION SERVICE

Tel: 03220 - 24571

In case of reply the number and date of this letter should be quoted



METRO EDUCATION OFFICE POST OFFICE BOX 1918 KUMASI

18th July,2019

Our Ref: 7/11/40 Your Ref.....

HEADTEACHERS OF BASIC SCHOOLS KUMASI EDUCATION DIRECTORATE <u>KUMASI</u>

LETTER OF INTRODUCTION

Mr. Nurudeen Iddriss Muhammed is a Second Year M. Phil Student in the Department of Early Childhood Education, University of Education, Winneba and is undertaking a research on the Topic "Teachers assessment practices, for children with intellectual disabilities in Inclusive Schools" in the Kumasi Metropolitan Education Directorate.

He has therefore been granted permission to conduct the research in your school.

I hope you will accord him the necessary assistance.

Find attached list of schools with pupils with Special Needs.

I count on your co-operation.

NOR A'

MARTHA OWUSU AGYEMAN (MRS.) METRO DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION KUMASI

ccs:

Mr. Nurudeen Iddriss Muhammed, University of Education, Winneba All Circuit Supervisor, MEO, Kumasi Basic School Coordinator, MEO, Kumasi University of Education, Winneba http://ir.uew.edu.gh

APPENDIX D

